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«Lean and keen»:

Dolphin – the new seismic service capacity provider
Building an independent, full-range asset light marine 
geophysical company in the midst of a market hurt by oil 
producers slashing spending amidst, hopefully, the tail-end 
of a global recession and a turbulent market following the 
Deepwater Horizon blow out, might seem to be bad timing by 
some . But not by the management team at Dolphin Group .

FAST
In fact, we, together with major professional investors, we 
felt that the timing of this rapid entry into the seismic market, 
could not have been better. In November 2010, Dolphin 
concluded that the future seismic service business looked 
very promising. Four weeks later, the company had raised USD 
63M, changed its name from Dolphin Interconnect Solutions 
to Dolphin Group, and brought together a team of seismic 
experts. ‘Fast’ is an important word at Dolphin. Already from 
the outset of this new business venture, we have proved our 
ability to empower rapid decision-making and bring the best 
to the market . 

INTELLIGENT
Our focus is on intelligent steel and resources . Intelligent 
Steel – we will deliver high quality, seamless execution and 
top of the line operational ships and streaming performance. 
Intelligent Resources – our team of seismic experts will 
efficiently manage and professionally run a full-service 
geophysical organization. Our whole management team has 
double-digit years experience in the seismic industry and 
tremendous track records in building solid enterprises .

Dolphin’s main driving force is the quality of its people: A 
team of professionals able to execute a flawless business plan 
and skilfully manage stakeholder investment – from equity to 
human resources – while driving and sustaining growth.  We 
understand that the competition for key personnel is intense, 
so as a technology-driven company our focus on human 
resources and creativity will remain paramount at all times.

Intelligence is one of the pillars of Dolphin’s value creation and 
a major ingredient of our innovative business culture.
 
FRIENDLY
Dolphin is approachable. We understand that business 
networking is all about groups of like-minded businesspeople 
recognizing, creating and acting upon business opportunities.  

Simply our goal is to be the leading seismic service 
capacity provider. But this is very dependent on motivating 
shipowners to build the vessels we need; top of the line, next 
generation hulls and equipment. Leasing two state-of-the-
art, multifunctional seismic ships from the offshore/shipping 
specialist GC Rieber Shipping and then lining up 2D and 3D 
charter agreements with TGS-NOPEC and ION’s GX Technology 
group confirms that major players recognize our insight into 
the seismic market, trust our business ability, and best of all, 
want to do business with us.
 
WAY FORWARD
Seismic
Dolphin is definitely a very competitive alternative, fit and 
ready for hard, efficient work. In other words, lean and keen. 
That is, we are geared for performance and have a healthy 
appetite for the next challenge. The fusion of stability and 
foresight will make this company a recognized worldwide 
name within the global seismic service market.

Interconnect Solutions
The existing Interconnect activity has been totally 
restructured for better cost efficiency and profitable future 
operation in this business area. We have great faith in the 
new products based on Dolphin?s long developed software 
and the new strategy of no longer developing its own circuits, 
but instead focusing on applying Dolphin software while 
collaborating on sales and development with the world?s 
leading suppliers of integrated circuit boards .

Atle Jacobsen, CEO

LEADER
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THE SEISMIC STORY

The Seismic story
Reflections and refractions of seismic waves at geologic 
interfaces within the Earth were first observed on recordings 
of earthquake-generated seismic waves. The basic model 
of the Earth’s deep interior is based on observations of 
earthquake-generated seismic waves transmitted through the 
Earth’s interior. The use of human-generated seismic waves 
to map, in detail, the geology of the upper few kilometers 
of the Earth’s crust followed shortly thereafter and has 
developed mainly due to commercial enterprise, particularly 
the petroleum industry . 

Reflection seismology, or ‘seismic’ as it is more commonly 
referred to by the oil industry, is used to map the sub-surface 
structure of rock formations and also to provide information 
about the physical properties of both the sub-surface 
rocks and the fluids within those rocks. These results allow 
oil and gas exploration companies to identify and de-risk 
hydrocarbon prospects prior to drilling. Seismic exploration 
surveys may be either 2D or 3D; 3D surveys are acknowledged 
by oil and gas companies as the principle means of increasing 
exploration drilling success. 3D surveys are also used as part 
of development planning for turning oil and gas discoveries 
into producing fields. In addition, time lapse or 4D seismic 
surveys are increasingly used to monitor fluid movement and 
hence optimise recovery factors for producing fields. 

Seismic surveys are performed on land, under the sea and 
in the transition zone (the interface area between the sea 
and land). For the marine environment, sound waves are 
generated and sent into the earth using high-pressure airgun 
arrays. The sound waves reflect off the different layers 
within the Earth’s crust and these reflections are detected 

using hydrophones . The airgun arrays and the hydrophones 
(encased in streamers) are towed behind the seismic 
vessel. The reflected signals are digitally recorded onto a 
storage medium, usually magnetic tape, and subsequently 
processed using specialist software to produce images of 
the sub-surface structure. Information about the rock and 
fluid properties is also derived to help distinguish between 
different types of rock and different fluids (oil, gas or water). 
These data sets are then interpreted by geologists for either 
a) possible hydrocarbon reserves in the case of exploration, 
or b) the extent and quantification of reserves in the case of 
development and c) the movement of hydrocarbons in the 
case of production. 

The parameters that are used for each acquisition project 
depend on a significant number of variables specific to a 
particular area. For example, in the marine environment the 
choice of a tuned airgun array will depend on the sub-sea 
geology, data from previous seismic surveys, the depth at 
which the main features of geological interest exist within the 
Earth, the desired frequency output of the source array and 
the amount of energy or power required to reach the layers of 
interest. Similarly, the processing required to produce the final 
results depends on the complexity of the sub-surface . 

Dolphin Geophysical will provide high quality, marine 2D, 3D 
and 4D surveys to the oil and gas companies on a proprietary 
basis. We will also invest in building a significant multi-client, 
non-proprietary business whereby Dolphin Geophysical 
own the seismic data and licence the results to interested 
companies. For all surveys, Health, Safety and environmental 
issues will be of prime importance.

Dophin high tech vessels are 
fitted with synchronised streamer 
deployment and recovery systems 
for improved operational efficiency.
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THE SEISMIC STORY

Polar Explorer
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Polar Duke

THE SEISMIC STORY
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THE SEISMIC STORY
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Board of Directors’ report 2010
Dolphin Group ASA (Dolphin) has its head office at Innspurten 
15, 0663 Oslo, Norway. Dolphin has two main business areas, 
which are organised through two wholly-owned subsidiary 
structures: Dolphin Interconnect Solutions AS (Interconnect) 
and Dolphin Geophysical AS (Geophysical) respectively.

Within the Interconnect business area the company develops 
and markets hardware and software for use in communication 
between computers. The manufacture of hardware is placed 
with subcontractors.

Within the Geophysical business area the company 
undertakes the collection, data processing and illustration of 
two-dimensional (2D) and three-dimensional (3D) seismic data 
for the oil and gas industry .

HIGHLIGHTS
· Changed strategy for the Interconnect business, cost savings 

and new equity raised in May 2010 – NOK 11.7 million at 
NOK 2.00 per share to secure future operations

· Changes in management and in the company’s board of 
directors

· New business area established in December 2010 – Marine 
Seismic Services, Dolphin Geophysical AS

· Successful capital raising for the new business area – NOK 
379 million (USD 63 million) at NOK 2.50 per share

· Attractive lease agreements signed for 3 seismic vessels with 
options on further capacity

· Lease financing secured for seismic equipment – up to USD 
39 million

· Expert and experienced geophysical organisation established

· New offices opened in Bergen, London, Houston and 
Singapore

· Positive development in the second half-year in the business 
area Interconnect Solutions

· Development of the new PCI Express adapter card 
completed, with great customer interest 

· Total sales revenues for 2010 of NOK 9.8 million, EBITDA 
before start-up costs of NOK -6.1 million and a positive 
ordinary result after tax of NOK 0.04 million.

THE COMPANY’S OPERATIONS, DEVELOPMENT AND MARKET 
AREAS
The company’s development in recent years has not been 
satisfactory and at the end of 2009 and during 2010 a number 
of measures were taken to protect the values in the company.

In this connection discussions were commenced with several 
other companies with a view to cooperation. The purpose of 
the process was to find a solution whereby the company’s 
business could be continued. The board considered that it was 
necessary that the new constellation should have sufficient 
financial resources to be able to further develop Dolphin’s 
business based on the intangible assets the company 
possessed. Negotiations were carried out and an agreement 
reached with the owners of Best Media AS regarding a 
merger. A further review of Best Media concluded that a 
merger was not possible and the board of Dolphin decided in 
February 2010 not to complete the agreement.

Against the background of the change processes that Dolphin 
carried out in 2009 an agreement was reached in December 
with Tim Miller for him to resign as chief executive at the end 
of 2009. At the same time Glenn Nøstdahl was appointed as 
the company’s new chief executive with effect from 1 January 
2010 and Nøstdahl held the position until the current chief 
executive and former chairman Atle Jacobsen formally took 
over from 6 January 2011.

Dolphin over many years has developed integrated circuits, 
adapter cards and software solutions for the effective 
connection of computers. Typical markets have been 
demanding solutions within instrumentation, medical 
equipment, high performance computing (HPC), simulators 
and databases. Dolphin’s products give its customer’s 
applications a significant improvement in performance in the 
form of better response times and higher capacity without 
requiring changes to the customer’s application or system.

Dolphin software supports standard network protocols and 
interfaces such as Berkeley Sockets API, TCP/IP and WinSock 
2 for popular operating systems such as Linux and Windows 
I. In addition there are good solutions for HPC and a software 
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package for the development of embedded shared memory 
applications. Dolphin’s solutions have been world leaders in 
the field of fast response times for a number of years.

In January 2010 the company’s board and management 
initiated a process to carry out a deeper analysis of Dolphin’s 
sales and marketing strategy. The background to the review 
was the fact that the efforts the company had made in the 
previous two years had not led to the expected results. 
In the light of this review the board concluded that there 
was a basis for a “restart” of the company with a focus 
on solutions mainly directed at OEM (Original Equipment 
Manufacture) customers in the embedded segment where 
Dolphin had previously proven to be competitive. At the same 
time cooperation with the major chip manufacturers was 
intensified in order to get increased access to this important 
market segment. Dolphin’s new product focus will thus 
concentrate more on software solutions compared with 
before, but the company will also offer hardware platforms 
to customers where this would be a sensible market solution. 
It is the board’s view that it is on the software side with its 
associated leading-edge expertise that the Interconnect 
segment has its competitive advantage and that development 
of this part will generate future earnings in this business area.

The reduction in the level of activity, turnover and market 
value led to an evaluation of the company’s stock exchange 
listing by reference to its continued relevance and the total 
costs involved in continuing to be a listed company. Based on 
a thorough strategic review of the existing business model 
and potential new business areas that could create growth in 
the company, Dolphin’s board concluded that the prospects 
for the offshore market were very promising with expected 
strong demand for seismic services. From the alternatives 
available the board of Dolphin decided to establish a new 
business area in Dolphin with the object of focusing on 
offering seismic services to the global oil and gas industry. 

Dolphin wants to offer a full range of geophysical services, 
including contract seismic, multi-client seismic and the 
processing of seismic data, either directly or through strategic 
partnerships. The selected alternative involved bringing in a 
management team with broad experience from the seismic 
industry. Their network and good knowledge of the industry 
has secured a rapid start-up for the new business area, access 
to a first-class fleet of seismic vessels and a very experienced 

multi-client organisation, in addition to the financing and 
leasing of boats and equipment on attractive terms.

STATUS OF THE BUSINESS AREAS
The seismic fleet 
The company’s objective is to position itself as a full-
service geophysical company and a preferred supplier of 
seismic services to the oil and gas companies nationally and 
internationally.

Delivery and start-up of the company’s vessels is taking place 
in accordance with the original plan.

Polar Explorer (2D) was delivered at a reduced lease rate 
at the end of January 2011 and mobilised for operation in 
February/March. As a result of the unrest in Libya the first 
contract was never commenced and a new contract in Nigeria 
with the same customer was planned and has now been 
started .

Polar Duke (3D) was moved by the shipowner from Spain to a 
yard in Stavanger, Norway, for adaptation of standard back-
deck solutions and the installation of seismic equipment. 
Polar Duke will be completed by the shipowner in April 2011. 
The vessel is expected be taken over and placed in North Sea 
operations by Dolphin at the beginning of May 2011.

Polar NB 533 (3D) on which Dolphin can declare an option by 
1 November 2011 for an initial 3-year period can be delivered 
by the shipowner in March 2012. The shipowner reports good 
progress on completion of the vessel.

Development of the new PCI Express adapter card completed
Development of the new PCI Express adapter card based 
on PCI Express generation 2 circuits from IDT has been 
completed. A small number of pilot series cards have been 
produced and distributed to several companies within 
the embedded sector for evaluation. Further cards were 
manufactured in February 2011 for delivery in accordance 
with orders and to customers who wished to evaluate the 
product. Dolphin’s SuperSockets and SISCI Linux software 
have been adapted to the new cards and delivered to 
customers for evaluation. Adaptation to Microsoft Windows 
has commenced. The product has had very good feedback 
and will be profiled as Dolphin’s new high-speed clustering 
solution under the name Dolphin Express IX.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Development in results
The group’s result for 2010 was primarily affected by the 
decision to establish the new business area. This applies 
particularly to start-up costs and the tax charge related to the 
new business area.

Sales revenues for 2010 relate exclusively to the Interconnect 
business and amounted to NOK 9.9 million, virtually identical 
to the revenues of NOK 10.2 million for 2009. The underlying 
development in sales has been positive and if one takes into 
account the weakening in the USD exchange rate in 2010 
in relation to Norwegian kroner, the business recorded an 
increase in turnover for 2010 compared with the previous 
year . 

The cost of goods and services amounted to NOK 2.2 million, 
which gives a solid gross operating margin of 77.7% in the 
Interconnect business . In comparison the cost of goods 
and services for 2009 was NOK 10.3 million, which included 
a write-down of inventory of NOK 7.3 million. Directly 
comparable consumption of goods and services in 2009 was 
thus NOK 2.8 million. Salaries and social costs have been 
reduced considerably from NOK 15.7 million in 2009 to NOK 9 
million in 2010 as a result of the reduction in staffing.

The company’s operating result has been significantly affected 
by the establishment of the new business area, which made a 
negative profit contribution of NOK 17.1 million. This amount 
includes start-up costs of NOK 15 million related to the 
estimated market value of the warrants that were awarded 
to the initiative takers on the establishment of this business 
area. The company would emphasise that this cost has no cash 
flow effect, but that the award of warrants, in accordance 
with IFRS 2 on share-based remuneration, is regarded as 
payment for the fact that the initiative takers had negotiated 
lease agreements with Armada Seismic ASA, had established 
a management team and had drawn up a business plan for 
the new business area. The company has considered the 
accounting treatment of these warrants and following an 
evaluation has concluded that the rights that the company 
has received for the issue do not fully satisfy the criteria that 
would enable them to be capitalised as an asset. Given that 
the warrants have been finally issued and that there are no 
other vesting criteria than that the company’s share price 
exceeds certain levels, it has been decided to expense the 
value of the warrants in 2010. In addition the group has costs 
of NOK 2.1 million related to raising new equity and building 
up the new business area.

In the profit and loss statement these costs are included in 
respectively salaries and other operating costs as appropriate. 
In aggregate this has resulted in a negative EBITDA for the 
group before start-up costs of NOK 6.1 million for 2010.

In connection with the preparation of the annual accounts the 
company’s board and management have assessed whether 
the value of the group’s tax loss carried forward in Norway 
at the end of 2010 can be capitalised . The tax loss carried 
forward exceeded NOK 110 million at the end of 2010, and 
against the background of the expectations as to future 
taxable profits in Norway in the period 2011 to 2013, the 
company has decided to capitalise a deferred tax receivable 
of NOK 30.25 million relating to the loss carried forward. 
Approximately NOK 24.8 million of this has been posted to the 
profit and loss account as recognition of a previously non-
capitalised deferred tax receivable, while approximately NOK 
5 .4 million has been posted directly against the company’s 
share premium account as the tax effect of issue costs that 
have been posted directly against the group’s equity. The 
posting to the profit and loss account has meant that the 
company’s result after tax for the fourth quarter was positive 
by around NOK 6.0 million, while the company’s ordinary 
result after tax for the whole of 2010 was positive by NOK 0.04 
million .

In 2010 the company had positive net financial items of NOK 
0.1 million compared with negative net financial items of NOK 
13.8 million for 2009. Included in net financial items for 2009 
was a loss on shares in Numascale AS of NOK 9 million at the 
same time as the company had net foreign exchange losses of 
around NOK 4.8 million.

The company had a profit after tax of NOK 39,823 against a 
loss of NOK 42,662,380 for 2009.

Equity, balance sheet, financing, cash flows and investments
The company’s solidity has been considerably strengthened as 
a result of the share issue carried out . At the end of 2010 the 
company had equity of NOK 408.5 million, which represented 
an equity ratio of 98.3%. The equity ratio will naturally fall as 
the company’s investment programme in seismic equipment 
is implemented. Investments in seismic equipment on Polar 
Duke will be carried out in the first half of 2011 and amount to 
more than USD 50 million.

It is the board’s view that the company has a solid financial 
platform for further expansion within the geophysical business 
area .

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 2010
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In 2010 the group had a negative cash flow from operations 
of NOK 5.8 million. The group had investments in the year 
totalling NOK 0.8 million of which NOK 0.4 million related to 
the seismic business area and NOK 0.4 million related to the 
interconnect business .

At the end of 2010 the company had liquid assets of NOK 
366.9 million. After deducting issue costs the company raised 
NOK 360.9 million in new equity in the quarter. The liquid 
assets are mainly placed in high-interest bank accounts, and 
significant parts of the amount were exchanged to USD during 
the first quarter of 2011.

In the board’s view the annual accounts provide a true and fair 
view of the group’s and the parent company’s results for the 
year and financial position as at 31.12.2010.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL MARKET RISK
Operational market risk
In all businesses where significant strategic changes take place 
there will be a risk that one does not succeed. The strategic 
change that is now being made within the Interconnect 
segment where the focus is being directed to OEM customers 
in the embedded segment is a strategy where Dolphin has 
previously shown itself to be competitive. As a result the 
board believes the strategy will be realised in the future.

Within both business segments the company is exposed 
within a market with tough competition, rapid technological 
developments and high operational efficiency.

Dependence on key individuals: 
The reduction in staffing in the Interconnect segment 
has meant that the company in the short-term has been 
dependent on a few key individuals for the development, 
adaptation and testing of software as well as service to 
customers .

The company’s plans for the development of the business 
include provision for strengthening the company’s capacity. 
At the same time incentives and compensation schemes 
have been introduced for the company’s key individuals that 
should secure loyalty and a correlation of interests with the 
company’s shareholders .

THE GROUP’S FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
The group’s activities involve various types of financial risk: 
currency, interest, and credit risk. The group uses financial 
derivatives to hedge against currency risk in certain cases. 
The group’s risk management takes place in accordance with 

guidelines approved by the board. In connection with the 
establishment of the new business area the management 
initiated a project to identify and describe the various 
financial risk factors that the new business area faces and to 
determine the guidelines that the company should follow for 
hedging. This project has not yet been completed.

The group’s liquidity and financing risk
One of the company’s main challenges during 2010 was to 
manage its liquidity situation. The issue of NOK 11.7 million in 
May and the larger issue of NOK 379 million in December 2010 
have considerably strengthened the company’s liquidity and 
solidity. It is the board’s view that the company’s liquidity and 
financing risk is low and the company is well-positioned to be 
able to realise its strategy .

The group’s interest rate risk
At the end of 2010 the group had no interest-bearing debt . 
Drawings on interest-bearing loans are expected to be made 
during the second quarter and currently these loans are all 
at floating interest rates. Consideration will be given as to 
whether parts of the debt should be hedged at a fixed interest 
rate through an interest rate swap agreement. Bank deposits 
at the end of 2010 were placed at floating rates. Consideration 
will be given to placing parts of the deposits at fixed rates for 
short time periods depending on the expected development 
in interest rates and estimated liquidity requirements.

THE INTERCONNECT BUSINESS
Currency risk
The business operates internationally and is exposed to a 
currency risk in several currencies. This risk is particularly 
relevant in relation to US dollars and Euros. The currency risk 
arises from future commercial transactions and capitalised 
assets and liabilities. In order to manage currency risk from 
future commercial transactions and capitalised assets and 
liabilities, the business may enter into forward foreign 
exchange contracts with external financial institutions. 
As at 31.12.2010 the group had no forward foreign 
exchange contracts. The currency risk arises when future 
commercial transactions or capitalised assets or liabilities are 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional 
currency .

Credit risk 
The business has no significant concentrations of credit 
risk. Routines have been established that ensure that sales 
of products take place to customers with satisfactory 
creditworthiness. As a large part of the income is from long-
term OEM (“Original Equipment Manufacturer”) contracts 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 2010
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where close cooperation has been established, the group’s 
ability to evaluate the credit risk is considered to be good.

THE SEISMIC BUSINESS
Currency risk
The business’s income will be in USD and most of the costs will 
also be in USD. The business, however, will have a large part 
of its costs in Norwegian kroner. Currently the currency risk 
is reduced by the fact that the group has a significant part of 
its cash holdings in Norwegian kroner. The main part of the 
company’s cash holdings have during 2011 been exchanged 
into USD as a result of significant lease obligations the 
business has in USD.

The company also has currency exposure on major building 
projects, where the investment takes place in various 
currencies depending on the supplier. The largest investments 
are made with purchases in USD, EUR and NOK. Debt financing 
takes place in USD in order to reduce the effect of currency 
fluctuations, while equity is raised in Norwegian kroner as 
a result of the fact that Dolphin is listed on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange .

Credit risk
Against the background of the fact that the business initially 
will only have two vessels and each contract will be of some 
size, the business will have a considerable credit concentration 
during the start-up phase .

The risk that a customer or partner cannot discharge its 
financial obligations is considered to be low, and Dolphin has 
historically had low losses on outstanding receivables. The 
group has no agreements or instruments to reduce credit risk, 
and the management is not considering this at the present 
time. The management actively follows up outstanding 
receivables and immediately take steps if customers or 
partners do not observe their payment obligations.

The geophysical customer receivables will mainly be against 
multi-national integrated oil companies and large independent 
oil and gas companies, including companies that are partly 
state-owned. Our customer credit exposure will be assessed 
on ongoing basis .

We believe that for both market segments our exposure 
to credit risk is relatively limited due to the nature of the 
customer base, the long-term relationship we have with 
most customers and the historically low level of losses on 
receivables.

Commodities risk
The operation of seismic vessels involves substantial fuel 
consumption. We are therefore exposed to changes in fuel 
prices. We do not hedge this exposure but try in our customer 
contracts to include upper limits on fuel prices, where 
customers can be additionally invoiced if the prices exceed 
set levels. The oil price is, however, an important factor in the 
demand for our services and future profitability, and therefore 
fluctuations in the oil price represents a natural hedge.

ORGANISATION AND WORKING ENVIRONMENT
During 2010 work to adjust the cost level to a lower sales 
volume was continued with the implementation of further 
cost saving measures. This led to a substantial reduction in 
staffing with the result that the group had 9 employees in the 
Interconnect segment and 5 in the Geophysical segment at 
the end of 2010 .

Against the background of a considerable focus on costs and 
reduction in staffing during the year, combined with new 
growth through the Geophysical segment, it must be said that 
it has been a challenging year for the employees. The working 
environment in Dolphin is considered to be satisfactory and, 
despite the uncertainty that has attached to the company’s 
financing, its dedicated and motivated employees have made 
great efforts during this period. The company had one person 
on long-term sick leave until 1 September 2010, while short-
term sick leave has been low for the year. There have been no 
accidents or injuries to personnel or equipment during 2010.

During 2010 no changes have been necessary in the guidelines 
for HSE for the Interconnect segments although we believe 
that the move to new, modern, attractive offices will be 
positive for the working environment and represent an 
improvement in the daily safety routines in the building and 
for the workplaces.

The company’s Geophysical business area has been built up 
very rapidly from December 2010 and is represented through 
the wholly-owned Norwegian subsidiary Dolphin Geophysical 
AS. New companies have been established in London, 
Houston and Singapore respectively. Most administrative 
positions have been recruited and seismic crews have been 
engaged for the first two boats that will begin operations.

The total number of employees and recruitments to the 
business segment has increased from 5 people at the end of 
December to more than 80 people at the end of March 2011 . 
An organisation has been established with the expertise and 
capacity to handle operations for more than the three seismic 
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vessels that were originally planned to be in operation by 
2012. In addition a slightly more rapid build-up than originally 
planned is taking place of an experienced and well-known 
team within marine seismic multi-client activity.

The proportion of women employees at the end of 2010 
was 33% and was at the same level as at the end of 2009. 
The group’s objective is to have a workplace with equal 
opportunities for women and men. Guidelines have been 
introduced to secure equal rights with regard to salaries, 
promotions and appointments.

HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT, SAFETY
Dolphin has an obligation to work to ensure that our business 
does not damage or pollute the external environment. For the 
year 2010 we are not aware that Dolphin has in any respect 
polluted the external environment. The Interconnect products 
have, as with all other electronic products, components that 
can contain lead and other substances that are regarded 
as damaging to the environment. In cooperation with our 
suppliers during the period 2005–2010 Dolphin has made 
changes in the products so that they are in accordance with 
the requirements of the RoHS directive.

The Geophysical part of the company is being promoted 
very actively towards future customers and particular focus 
is placed on improvements to, and further development of, 
the company’s routines for health, environment and safety 
(HSE), both onshore and, not least, in relation to the marine 
geophysical operations of the company.

DOLPHIN’S BOARD, GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE 
MANAGEMENT
Dolphin Group ASA is registered in Norway and is a public 
limited company. Our governance and corporate management 
are based on Norwegian legislation and we seek to comply 
with the relevant principles in the “Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance” of 21 October 2010.

We take the view that effective governance and corporate 
management is fundamental to success, and as a framework 
for how to deliver services to our customers and secure value 
creation for our owners.

Our principles for governance and corporate management 
and their implementation are reviewed periodically and 
most recently approved by the board on 29 April 2011. The 
applicable principles, guidelines, as well as articles, board 
instructions and ethical guidelines etc., are available on our 
websites www.dolphinics.com and www.dolphingeo .com .

SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
In December 2010 Dolphin carried out a placing of NOK 
379,182,500 (corresponding to USD 63 million) through 
the issue of 151,673,000 new shares at a subscription price 
of NOK 2.50. The issue was placed with institutional and 
professional investors in Norway and internationally. The 
issue was approved at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 
20 December 2010 and was registered with the Registry of 
Business Enterprises on 22 December 2010 .

As at 31 Dec . 2010 the company had a total of 159,859,705 shares .

At an Extraordinary General Meeting on 7 May 2010 the 
company resolved to carry out a placing of NOK 11,658,000 
to some selected investors and shareholders. The issue 
was immediately subscribed and the increase in capital was 
registered with the Registry of Business Enterprises on 25 
May 2010. In addition a compensatory issue was made to 
existing shareholders who had not been given the opportunity 
to participate in the placing. In total 46,100 shares were 
subscribed for an aggregate issue amount of NOK 92,200. 
These were allotted at a board meeting on 30 June 2010. At 
the same board meeting a final decision was taken on the 
conversion of debt owed to certain board members, former 
board members and the former chief executive. In total 
44,429 shares were subscribed for an aggregate issue amount 
of NOK 211,930. These two issues were registered with the 
Registry of Business Enterprises on 13 July 2010 .

First quarter 2011
After the placing in December 2010 a compensatory issue 
was made of up to 4,824,000 shares at a subscription price of 
NOK 2.50. The purpose of the compensatory issue was to give 
existing shareholders who had not been given the opportunity 
to participate in the placing the opportunity to subscribe for 
shares . The subsequent issue took place in January 2011 and 
was fully subscribed. The issue was registered in the Registry 
of Business Enterprises on 31 January 2011 .

After the last issue the company has a total of 164,683,705 
shares outstanding as at 29 April 2011 .

The Oslo Stock Exchange has notified the company of an 
administrative resolution on a February 20 whereby Dolphin 
Group ASA can continue its listing on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
following the establishment of the new business area. The 
large capital expansion and the increase in the number of 
shares have resulted in considerably improved liquidity in the 
Dolphin share. We have gained large and well known national 
and international institutional shareholders.
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Anne-Grete Ellingsen (Chairman)

Hege Eikeland (Board member) 

Atle Jacobsen (CEO)

Ole Henrik Eide (Deputy Chairman)

Terje Rogne (Board member) 

Marit Elisabeth Døving (Board member)

Simen Thoresen (Board member – employee rep.) 

FUTURE PROSPECTS
The Interconnect business
In 2010 Dolphin took a strategic decision to end the resource 
demanding development of its own integrated circuits, and 
enter into development and sales cooperation with one of the 
world’s leading suppliers of integrated circuits for PCI Express 
network technology. New products based on Dolphin’s 
software and purchased circuits have now been developed, 
tested and introduced to the market during the first half of 
2011. In the somewhat longer term – when new products 
are phased in – the company’s gross profit will be reduced 
in relation to old products that have a lower cost base per 
product. The board expects, however, that the commitment 
will result in an increased sales volume for the Interconnect 
business in 2011 and that the new strategy will provide a basis 
for future profitable operation of the Interconnect segment.

The Seismic business 
The seismic market is developing positively. The high oil price 
means that the oil companies’ exploration and production 
budgets are being adjusted upwards. Forecasts show 
increasing demand for petroleum products, particularly in 
regions with strong economic growth such as China, India and 
Africa. This, combined with the oil companies’ challenges to 
maintain their oil and gas reserves, means that Dolphin, on a 
short and long view, is optimistic that there will be a high level 
of exploration activity and demand for seismic services, both 
nationally and internationally.

With a general increase in demand for seismic services, our 
experience is that customers firstly seek the larger vessels 
with good operational histories. As newcomers in the market, 
and still a small participant, Dolphin has chosen an approach 
to the market characterised by respect for the complexity and 
competition we face. The company has attracted, however, 
an international, very competent and experienced team. This, 
combined with some of the world’s largest and most effective 
seismic vessels, has proved to be attractive to the market and 
our customers. Compared with the market situation in the 
second half of 2010 there has been a noticeable strengthening 
in demand activity for 3D seismic services. In the first half 

of 2011 high-capacity 3D vessels have secured somewhat 
stronger rates. The prospects for further improvements 
during the second half-year and further in 2012 appear to 
be good. The company has secured contracts for two ships 
with possible option extensions. An increasing number of 
companies have pre-qualified Dolphin for participation in their 
bidding processes .

Further efforts are being made to further strengthen the 
geological and geophysical expertise in the company. This 
expertise and experience will be used to increase support to 
customers in order to cover, in the best possible manner, their 
seismic collection requirements and challenges, in addition to 
ensuring the quality of collection criteria and methods in our 
operations. The build-up of expertise is also intended to be 
used in processing collected data and in the preparation and 
collection of 2D and 3D multi-client seismic projects.

The collection of non-exclusive seismic data, so-called multi-
client projects, is an important part of the company’s strategy 
for the future. Based on the company’s size and currently 
limited investment capacity, the company will cooperate with 
other participants and secure substantial advance financing 
in order to reduce the financial risk in this type of projects. 
Specific multi-client investment alternatives have already 
been prepared for both 2D and 3D seismic projects.

APPLICATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY’S PROFIT FOR 2010
The accounts of the parent company, Dolphin Group ASA, 
and associated notes have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The board 
confirms that the company’s accounts have been prepared 
on a going concern basis in accordance with §3–3 of the 
Norwegian Accounting Act.

The annual profit for 2010 was NOK 2,381,853 compared with 
a loss of NOK 60,624,221 in 2009. The board proposes that the 
profit for the year in the parent company of NOK 2,381,853 
is allocated to other equity . Total equity as at 31 December 
2010 was NOK 410,897,698. The company had no distributable 
reserves at the end of 2010.
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OUR EXECUTIVE TEAM

Bjarne Stavenes (Technical Vice President), Mike Hodge (QHSE Vice President), Peter Hooper (Operations Vice President), Erik 
Hokholt (CFO), Atle Jacobsen (CEO), Phil Suter (Marketing & Sales Vice President), Tim Wells (President Western Hemisphere).

Our executive team
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Profit and loss statement
Parent company Consolidated accounts
 2009 2010  Notes  2010 2009
   OPERATING REVENUES    
 2 004 155 2 271 849 Sales revenues    5  9 777 235 10 184 184
 0 152 498 Other operating revenues 5,29  192 133 -147 121
 2 004 155 2 424 347 TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES   9 969 368 10 037 063
      
   OPERATING EXPENSES    
 8 897 186 -684 512 Cost of goods and services 16  2 229 950 10 324 265
 5 875 294 7 292 239 Payroll expenses 23,24,26,27  9 036 300 15 659 132
 4 204 243 3 209 771 Other operating expenses 25,26  4 771 936 8 730 422
 18 976 723 9 817 498 TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES   16 038 186 34 713 819
       
 -16 972 568 -7 393 151 EBITDA* before start-up  expenses   -6 068 818 -24 676 756
 
 1 192 087 744 709 Ordinary depreciation 13  4 628 196 4 085 484
 689 112 0 Write-downs 14  0 689 112
        
 -18 853 767 -8 137 860 OPERATING PROFIT (EBIT) before start-up expenses   -10 697 014 -29 451 352

 0 15 025 000 Start-up expenses – new business area 8  15 025 000 0
        
 -18 853 767 -23 162 860 OPERATING PROFIT (EBIT)   -25 722 014 -29 451 352
        
 -41 770 454 713 473 NET FINANCIAL ITEMS 10,19,29  114 737 -13 772 796
        
 -60 624 221 -22 449 387 PROFIT BEFORE TAX   -25 607 277 -43 224 148

 0 -24 831 240 Tax charge 22  -25 647 100 -561 768
        
 -60 624 221 2 381 853 NET PROFIT   39 823 -42 662 380

   OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
 0 0 Currency translation differences   -50 219 3 678 725
        
 -60 624 221 2 381 853 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   -10 396 -38 983 655
        
   ALLOCATIONS     
 -60 624 221 2 381 853 Transferred to Other equity     
 -60 624 221 2 381 853 TOTAL ALLOCATIONS     
  
   Average number of outstanding shares   10 603 735 2 267 111
   Net profit per share 28  0,00 -18,82
   Net comprehensive earnings per share 28  0,00 -17,20

*) Earnings before financial items, tax, depreciation and amortisation
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Balance sheet
Parent company  Consolidated accounts
 2009 2010  Notes  2010 2009
   ASSETS 
   NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
 0 30 250 000 Deferred tax asset   22  30 250 000 0 
 1 307 344 1 030 064 Capitalised development costs 12,14  11 679 794 15 780 465
 40 129 0 Machinery and equipment 11  395 682 40 135
 0 220 000 Shares in subsidiaries 10  0 0
 2 179 699 2 179 699 Other shares 10  2 179 699 2 179 699 
 3 527 172 33 679 763 TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   44 505 175 18 000 299 
     
   CURRENT ASSETS    
 1 590 538 1 295 044 Inventories 16  2 125 265 2 576 765
 121 655 193 973 Accounts receivable 15  1 591 263 666 918
13 932 238  15 393 209 Other short-term receivables 15,29  510 738 923 853
 1 266 424 364 855 905 Cash and bank 17  366 859 834 1 315 624 
 16 910 855 381 738 131 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   371 087 100 5 483 160 
       
 20 438 027 415 417 894 TOTAL ASSETS   415 592 275 23 483 459

   EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
   EQUITY    
 16 022 513 408 515 845 Paid-in equity 18,27,28  408 515 845 16 022 513
 0 2 381 853 Retained earnings   -10 398 0
 16 022 513 410 897 698 TOTAL EQUITY   408 505 447  16 022 513 
    
   NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
 0 0 Deferred tax liability 22  1 411 798 2 273 426 
 248 832 0 Other long-term liabilities 21  0 248 832 
 248 832 0 TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   1 411 798 2 522 258 
       
   CURRENT LIABILITIES    
 2 603 131 1 569 476 Accounts payable   2 059 427 2 713 258 
 1 563 551 2 950 720 Other current liabilities 20,22,29  3 615 603 2 225 430 
 4 166 682 4 520 196 TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   5 675 030 4 938 688 
     
 20 438 027 415 417 894 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   415 592 275 23 483 459

Oslo, 29 April 2011

Anne-Grete Ellingsen (Chairman)

Hege Eikeland (Board member) 

Atle Jacobsen (CEO)

Ole Henrik Eide (Deputy Chairman)

Terje Rogne (Board member) 

Marit Elisabeth Døving (Board member)

Simen Thoresen (Board member – employee rep.) 
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Cash flow statement
The statement is a systematic presentation that shows how the business has been provided with financial resources during the 
year and how these resources have been employed. The cash flow statement is intended to give a picture of the development 
during the period in financing, investment and liquidity.

Parent company Consolidated accounts
 2009 2010    2010 2009
   CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS   
 -60 624 221 -22 449 387 Profit before tax   -25 607 277 -43 224 148
 1 192 087 744 709 Depreciation   4 628 196 4 085 484
 689 112 0 Write-down of intangible assets   0 689 112
 27 696 519 0 Write-down of shares   0 8 966 852
 8 926 150 696 936 Write-down of receivables   0 0
 149 796 407 581 Costs relating to options   407 581 149 796
 0 15 025 000 Start-up expenses with no effect on cash flow   15 025 000 0
 4 293 107 295 494 Change in inventory   451 500 7 872 322
 1 528 605 -72 318 Change in accounts receivable   -924 345 1 905 291
 1 123 512 -1 033 655 Change in accounts payable   -653 831 148 553
 8 958 665 -1 597 007 Change in accruals and other items   874 242 6 628 146
 -6 066 668  -7 982 647 NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS    -5 798 934  -12 778 591 
     
   CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS    
 0 -220 000 Investments in subsidiaries   0 0
 0 0 Disposal of subsidiary   0 3 309 797
 -185 045 -427 300 Purchase of intangible assets and other operating equipment  -822 976 -185 045
 -185 045  -647 300 NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS    -822 976  3 124 752

   CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING    
 -237 604 -260 631 Repayment of long-term loans   -260 631 -237 604
 0 372 480 059 Net proceeds from share issues   372 480 059 0
 -237 604  372 219 428 NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING    372 219 428  -237 604 
       
 -6 489 317 363 589 481 Net cash flow for the period   365 597 518 -9 891 443
 0 0 Effect of exchange rate changes   -53 308 -625 329
 7 755 741  1 266 424 Cash and cash equivalents at 01.01.    1 315 624  11 832 396
 1 266 424  364 855 905 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31.12.    366 859 834  1 315 624

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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Statement of changes in equity
Parent company       
   Share premium Other paid-in
  Share capital account equity Other equity Total
Equity 01.01.2009  4 534 222 112 119 278 2 754 096 -42 910 658 76 496 938
Employee option programme  0 0 149 796 0 149 796
Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 -60 624 221 -60 624 221
Applied against loss carried 
forward  0 -100 630 987 -2 903 892 103 534 879 0
Equity 31.12.2009  4 534 222 11 488 291 0 0 16 022 513
     
Equity 01.01.2010  4 534 222 11 488 291 0 0 16 022 513
Issue of shares  315 185 188 75 959 572 0 0 391 144 760
Issue expenses  0 -14 084 009 0 0 -14 084 009
Effect on equity of warrants   0 0 15 025 000 0 15 025 000
Employee option programme  0 0 407 581 0 407 581
Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 2 381 853 2 381 853
Equity 31.12.2010  319 719 410 73 363 854 15 432 581 2 381 853 410 897 698
     
Consolidated accounts
   Share premium Other paid-in
  Share capital account equity Other equity Total
Equity 01.01.2009  4 534 222 112 119 278 2 754 096 -64 551 224 54 856 372
Employee option programme  0 0 149 796 0 149 796
Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 -38 983 655 -38 983 655
Applied against loss carried
forward  0 -100 630 987 -2 903 892 103 534 879 0
Equity 31.12.2009  4 534 222 11 488 291 0 0 16 022 513
     
Egenkapital 01.01.2010  4 534 222 11 488 291 0 0 16 022 513
     
Issue of shares  315 185 188 75 959 572 0 0 391 144 760
Issue expenses  0 -14 084 009 0 0 -14 084 009
Effect on equity of warrants  0 0 15 025 000 0 15 025 000
Employee option programme  0 0 407 581 0 407 581
Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 -10 398 -10 398
Equity 31.12.2010  319 719 410 73 363 854 15 432 581 -10 398 408 505 447

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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NOTES

Notes to the financial statements
NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION
Through 2010 Dolphin Group ASA has conducted significant changes in the core business of the group.  

At the beginning of 2010 the company was named Dolphin Interconnect Solutions ASA, and the purpose of the group was to 
develop manufacture and market high-speed, high-bandwidth interconnect to connect computer networking/computers. The 
Group sells its products all over the world, but the main markets are in the US, Canada, Japan and Europe. The sale is handled 
directly, in OEM agreements, by resellers and by distributors and dealers .

After a evaluation of  business and strategic review, the board of Directors have concluded that the outlook in the offshore 
market looked very promising, with a strong anticipated increase in demand for seismic services. Consequently, the Company 
decided to establish a company within Dolphin that would focus on offering marine seismic services to the global oil and gas 
industry. Dolphin obtained about NOK 379.2 million through a private placement which was approved in the Extra Ordinary 
General Meeting 20 December 2010. At the same time, the company changed its name from Dolphin Interconnect Solutions 
ASA to Dolphin Group ASA. Note 4 give a more detailed description of the new segment.

Thus, at the end of 2010 the Group has two business segments.

Dolphin Group ASA is a Norwegian company, with headquarter in Oslo. The company is noted at Oslo Stock Exchange with ticker DOLP.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on April 29 2011 and will be finally approved 
in the ordinary general meeting 30 May 2011.

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES
2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements for the Parent company and the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and IFRIC interpretations as adopted by EU.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Areas involving a 
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed in note 6 .

The company and the Group continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.

2.2 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls 
another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases .

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the 
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
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NOTES

liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the 
extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable 
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are  eliminated but also considered as  impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
will be changed when it is necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements for the Group and the 
Parent are presented in NOK, which is the Parent Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of the Group`s entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
i. assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the end date of the balance sheet
ii. income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rate
iii. all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity

2.4 Operating equipment
All machinery and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably . All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on all assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost  over the estimated useful life or 
straight–line depreciation to the amounts of theirresidual values.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s 
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing sales price with carrying amount. These are included in the income statement.

2.5 Intangible assets
Research and development
Development cost of products which can be measured with reliability and that probably will generate future economic benefits 
is capitalized and depreciated. Research on new products and maintenance of existing products is expensed as incurred. Cost 
which is capitalized contains internal payroll costs and external assistance. Public grants regarding capitalized products reduce 
the capitalized amount.
Capitalized development cost is depreciated over the period the products are expected to give economic benefits. The assets’ 
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residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying 
amount is written down immediately if future expected economic benefits can no longer justify the carring amount. 

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
Operating equipment and intangible assets with definite useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the highest amount of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are  grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.7 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lowest of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. 

2.8 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised at fair value, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The 
amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and cash deposits maximum at three months original maturity.

2.10 Taxes
Tax expense on the income statement includes taxes payable and the change in deferred tax for the period . Taxes payable is 
booked with the amount expected to be received or which is expected to be paid to the tax authorities. The change in deferred 
tax reflects the future taxes payable resulting from the current year’s activities. Deferred tax is based on accumulated profit, but 
which will be payable in subsequent accounting periods. Deferred tax is calculated on net tax-increasing differences between 
the balance sheet items used for accounting purposes and those used for taxation purposes, adjusted for deductible temporary 
tax differences and tax losses carried forward according to the liability method.  

Deferred tax assets are only capitalized to the extent that it is probable that there will be future taxable income available for 
reducing the difference. Deferred tax assets are assessed for each period and will be reduced if it is no longer probable that the 
deferred tax asset can be used .

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date 
and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. 

2.11 Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations
The companies in the Group have a defined contribution plan. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the 
current and prior period. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity for pension, based 
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on obligatory, agreed on or voluntary basis. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when they are 
due. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is 
available.

(b) Share-based compensation
The group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of the options is recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of 
the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. It recognizes the impact of the revision of original estimates, if 
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share 
premium when the options are exercised.

(c) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration 
the profit attributable to the company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognizes a provision where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

2.12 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary 
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of value-added tax, estimated returns, rebates and discounts and after 
eliminated sales within the Group. Sales of goods are recognized when a group  entity has delivered products to the customer; 
the customer has accepted the products and collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

2.13 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of 
the lease. There are no financial leases in the Group.

2.14 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs is expensed in the same period as accrued, except where the costs relates to acquisition of assets which are 
capitalized. Then the borrowing costs will be capitalized together with the asset.

2.15 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obligation as a result of past events, and when it is probable that there will 
be a financial settlement as a result of this obligation and the amount can be measured reliably. Generally speaking, provisions 
are based on historical data and a weighting of possible outcomes against the probability they will occur. If the time value is 
significant, the provision will be the net present value of the amount expected to be required to meet the obligation.

2.16 Classification
Assets related to normal operating cycles or fall due within 12 months are classified as current assets. Other assets are classified 
as non-current. Similarly, liabilities related to normal operating cycles or fall due within 12 months are classified as current 
liabilities. Other liabilities are classified as non-current.

2.17 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the corporate management.
The change in the organizational structure, following the establishment of the new geophysical division, is included in the 
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segment reporting from 4th Quarter 2010. See note 5 for information related to the segments prepared in accordance with IFRS 
8 Operating Segments.

2.18 Net profit per share
The Group present ordinary earnings per share and earnings per share after dilution. Ordinary earnings per share are calculated 
as the ratio between the net profit/(loss) for the year that accrues to the ordinary shareholders and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding. The figure for diluted earnings per share is the result that accrues to the ordinary shareholders, 
and the number of weighted average number of shares outstanding has been adjusted for all diluting effects related to share 
options.

2.19 Standards, amendments and interpretations published but not yet implemented
The standards and interpretations listed below have been published, but are not yet effective at the date of approval of the 
financial statements:

IFRIC 14 ”IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction”
IFRIC 19 ”Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments”

The above mentioned interpretations are not expected to be relevant for the Group. 
The following new standards and amendments to existing standards are published by IASB, but not implemented by the Group. 
These will not be implemented until effective date, unless otherwise decided:

IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: disclosures”
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”
IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”

The changes in IFRS 7 are not expected to impact the consolidated accounts. IFRS 9 will replace the recognition and 
measurement rules in the current IAS 39. Considering the current scope and use of financial instruments, the impact of the 
changes is not expected to be material. The changes in IAS 24 and IAS 32 are not expected to have any material effects. 

The IASB Annual Improvement Project has approved changes in several standards with effect from 2011. Changes that might 
affect recognition, measurement and disclosure are listed below.

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
IFRS 7 ”Financial instruments: disclosures”
IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”
IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”
IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”

NOTE 3 – CHANGE IN ASSESSMENT OF LOAN TO SUBSIDIARY
The Parent company has made a loan to the subsidiary Dolphin Inc of USD 4 million as at 31 December 2010. The intention 
has been that Dolphin Inc should repay the loan as soon as possible. This has meant that any currency effects on this loan 
under International Accounting Standards (IAS 21) should be posted to the income statement. This currency effect has thus 
been posted in the consolidated financial statements as a currency gain/loss under financial items. In the second quarter of 
2010 a new evaluation was made of Dolphin Inc’s ability to repay this loan and the conclusion was reached that the loan must 
be regarded as part of the net investment in Dolphin Inc. The accounting effect of this is that the currency effect is not to be 
accounted for as a currency element under financial items but regarded as part of the conversion effect on the investment in 
the subsidiary. This effect is thus accounted for on the line currency conversion differences under other income and expenses 
after the result after tax. Following an assessment the conclusion was reached that it was correct to make this change with 
effect from the first quarter of 2010. The assessment has an effect on the presentation of the result and has no cash effect and 
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further no effect on the company’s balance sheet and equity. Since this is a change in an assessment and not a principle change 
the figures for 2009 have not been restated.

NOTE 4 – IMPORTANT EVENTS / CHANGES IN THE GROUP COMPANY’S STRUCTURE
2010
After an extensive review and evaluation of the Company’s strategy, the Company’s board concluded that the future prospects 
in the offshore market were promising, with an expected strong increase in demand for seismic services. As a result, the 
Company decided to establish a new business within the Group focusing on providing marine seismic services to the global oil 
and gas industry. Dolphin raised a total of approximately NOK 379.2 million (corresponding to USD 63 million) in a placing that 
was approved at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 20 December 2010. At the same time the Company changed its name 
from Dolphin Interconnect Solutions ASA to Dolphin Group ASA. The new Dolphin Group comprises a business focusing on the 
existing interconnect business (“Dolphin Interconnect Solutions”), and a geophysical business (“Dolphin Geophysical”) which 
focuses on new business opportunities within marine seismic services.

As part of the establishment of the new business area the Group reached an agreement in December with companies within GC 
Rieber Shipping and the Armada Seismic group on the leasing of the vessels Polar Explorer and Polar Duke. A further description 
of the lease obligations is given in note 25.

2009
Numascale AS
In June 2008 Dolphin established the wholly-owned subsidiary Numascale AS. All assets, patents, personnel and activities 
related to the development of NumaChip were transferred to this company. Numascale AS will complete the development of 
the NumaChip product and build up a long-term business based on this technology. The subsidiary was established to simplify 
the financing of this business.

Numascale’s business idea is to develop a chip (NumaChip) that will make it possible to build powerful computers at a 
significantly lower cost than using the solutions found in the market today. A successful solution will open up a big market of 
new customers. High-performance computing (HPC) is the target market for the first part of the development. This market has a 
substantial appetite for new performance-oriented technology. The HPC market is growing strongly with an annual growth rate 
of 35–45% in the target segment for NumaChip.

Against the background of the company’s capital requirements new equity was raised for the company during 2008 through 
external investors subscribing in a private placing. Dolphin’s ownership was thus diluted to 72.65% at the end of 2008. As a 
result of the fact that Numascale needed further capital in 2009 a new issue was made to existing shareholders in June 2009. 
Dolphin chose not to participate in this issue and as a result the issue diluted its holding to 12.61%. Numascale thus ceased to be 
a subsidiary from 24 June 2009 and company has not been consolidated in the Dolphin Group since this time. In connection with 
the fact that Numascale ceased to be a subsidiary an assessment was made of the book value of the shares. The accounting 
effect of the fact that the company ceased to be a subsidiary and the assessment of the value of the shares in Numascale at this 
date involved a charge in the Group company accounts of a loss of NOK 9.0 million. This loss has been included in the Group 
company accounts under net financial items.

Set out on the following page is the accounting effect on the consolidated income statement for 2009 when Numascale AS is 
presented as a discontinued business.
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(All figures in NOK)  Discontinued Continued 
 Consolidated activity activity
 figures for 2009 2009 2009
Operating revenues     
Sales revenues  10 184 184 178 800 10 005 384
Other operating revenues  -147 121 0 -147 121
Total operating revenues  10 037 063 178 800 9 858 263 
    
Operating expenses     
Cost of goods and services  10 324 265 0 10 324 265
Payroll expenses  15 659 132 2 841 695 12 817 437
Other operating expenses  8 730 422 1 608 825 7 121 597
Total operating expenses  34 713 819 4 450 520 30 263 299

EBITDA  -24 676 756 -4 271 720 -20 405 036

Ordinary depreciation  4 085 484 0 4 085 484
Write-downs  689 112 0 689 112

Operating profit (EBIT)  -29 451 352 -4 271 720 -25 179 632
    
Net financial items  -13 772 796 -8 500 653 -5 272 143
    
Profit before tax  -43 224 148 -12 772 373 -30 451 775

Tax charge  -561 768 0 -561 768

Net profit  -42 662 380 -12 772 373 -29 890 007

NOTE 5 – SEGMENT INFORMATION
Dolphin’s segment reporting is prepared in accordance with the rules in IFRS 8, Operating segments.

The segment reporting will, with effect from the fourth quarter of 2010, reflect the change in the organisational structure as a 
result of the establishment of the new geophysical business. 

With effect from the first quarter of 2011 Group company expenses will mainly be charged to the geophysical business.  All 
“Group” costs up to and including the fourth quarter of 2010 have been charged to the Interconnect business.
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 Consolidated Interconnect Geophysical
 accounts segment segment
Total operating revenues  9 969 368 9 969 368 0

Operating expenses     
Cost of goods  2 229 950 2 229 950 0
Other operating expenses  13 808 236 11 736 851 2 071 385
Total operating expenses  16 038 186 13 966 801 2 071 385 
   
EBITDA before start-up expenses  -6 068 818 -3 997 433 -2 071 385

Depreciation and write-downs  4 628 196 4 628 196 0

Operating profit (EBIT) before start-up expenses  -10 697 014 -8 625 629 -2 071 385 
   
Start-up expenses for the new business area  15 025 000 0 15 025 000 
   
Operating profit (EBIT)  -25 722 014 -8 625 629 -17 096 385

Investments in operating equipment/intangible assets  822 976  427 300  395 676

At the end of 2010 the company had not established segment reporting at balance sheet level as almost all assets and liabilities 
were related to the Interconnect business or were liquid assets at Parent company level.

Product segment Interconnect:
The products are divided into the following groups:
· StarFabric; are chip level products that stem from the purchase of Star Gen in early 2007. These products are mainly sold in the 

integrated market .

· DX Series; are products based on PCI Express cluster technology from the purchase of Star Gen. These products are mainly 
sold in the corporate market .

· D Series; are products based on Dolphin’s cluster technology. These products are sold both in the integrated market and in the 
corporate market .

· Other; include special adaptations and consultancy services that are carried out for individual customers.

 Parent company   Consolidated accounts
  2010 2009  2010 2009
StarFabric  0 0   7 124 451 6 972 096
DX-Series  1 147 296 274 789   1 473 122 688 049
SCI-D-Series  539 417 1 547 546   591 265 2 345 239
Other  585 136 181 820   588 397 178 800
Total  2 271 849 2 004 155   9 777 235 10 184 184
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Geographic segment
Sales are allocated on the basis of the customer’s home country. Sales are mainly made in Europe, USA, Canada and Japan.

 Parent company   Consolidated accounts
Sales revenues  2010 2009  2010 2009
Euro area  292 330 1 645 169   523 622 2 076 986
USA  1 368 645 287 153   5 377 348 3 772 080
Japan  25 946 26 521   1 032 274 2 254 921
Canada  82 391 0   1 801 597 1 278 739
Other countries  502 537 45 313   1 042 394 801 458
Total  2 271 849 2 004 156   9 777 235 10 184 184

Information on the largest customers 
Included in revenues for 2010 is turnover of respectively NOK 2.3 million (23.3%), NOK 1.0 million (10.5%) and NOK 0.6 million 
(6,.%)  for the three largest customers.  The corresponding figures for 2009 were respectively NOK 2.3 million (22.6%), NOK 1.3 
million (12.5%) and NOK 1.2 million (12.0%)  which arose from sales to the Group’s three largest customers.

NOTE 6 – ESTIMATE UNCERTAINTY
In preparing the annual accounts in accordance with IFRS the company’s management have used estimates based on their best 
judgement and assumptions that have been considered to be realistic. Situations or changes in market conditions could arise 
that may involve changed estimates, and thus affect the company’s assets, liabilities, equity and results.

The company’s most important accounting estimates relate to the following items:
a) Write-downs/reversals of intangible assets
b) Assessment of the capitalisation of a deferred tax asset
c) Assessment of write-downs for obsolescence of inventory
d) Assumptions and assessments of the value of the warrants that have been accounted for as a start-up cost

In the case of intangible assets the company has made an assessment of potential deteriorations in value in accordance with the 
guidelines drawn up in IAS 36. The write-down tests are further discussed in a separate note 14. 

The Company’s capitalised intangible assets are evaluated annually for write-downs and the possible reversal of previous write-
downs.

The deferred tax asset was not capitalised at the end of 2009. For 2010 a deferred tax asset related to the Norwegian part of 
the business has been capitalised, cf note 22 and 2 .10 .

The write-down of obsolescent inventory is made on an ongoing basis based on goods that have a low turnover velocity and 
goods with technology that has been superseded, cf. note 16.

The assumptions and assessments on which the calculation has been made of the start-up costs related to the warrants are 
further discussed in note 8 .

NOTE 7 – FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES
The following exchange rates have been used in the consolidated financial statements:
     Average Average
Currency  31.12.2010 31.12.2009  2010 2009
US dollar (USD)  5,8564 5,7767  6,0437 6,2816
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NOTE 8 – START-UP COSTS
As a result of the establishment of a new business area in marine seismic it was resolved at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 20 
December 2010 to allot 7,990,000 warrants to the initiative takers for the new business area. No consideration was paid for the warrants.

Each warrant gives the holder the right to subscribe one share in the company of NOK 2.00 par value against the payment of 
NOK 2.50 (the warrant’s exercise price). The warrant’s exercise price corresponds to the subscription price in the placing.

Half of the warrants may be exercised when the weighted average price of the shares for the last 30 trading days prior to 
exercise exceeds NOK 3.75. The other half of the warrants may be exercised if the weighted average price of the shares for the 
last 30 trading days prior to exercise exceeds NOK 5.00. The deadline for exercise of the warrants expires on 20 December 2015.

The fair value of the warrants is estimated at NOK 15,025,000 based on a Monte Carlo simulation where the following 
assumptions have been used: 
a) The warrants are calculated as European with a lifetime equal to the contract time
b) The risk-free interest rate is 3.0398%, which is based on Norges Bank’s government bond yield on the issue date
c) Volatility is set at 60% based on historic volatility of comparable businesses as the company’s historical share price does not 

reflect future volatility due to a significant change in the company’s business 
d) No payment of dividends is expected in the period prior to the deadline for exercise of the warrants

The warrants have been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-based payment. Based on the fact that the warrants 
have been finally awarded the estimated value of the warrants has been expensed in the consolidated financial statements in 
the fourth quarter against a contra item under Other paid-in equity . In the income statement the cost has been presented on a 
separate line under start-up costs . 

NOTE 9 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities involve various types of financial risk: currency, interest, and credit risk. The Group uses financial 
derivatives to hedge against currency risk in certain cases. The Group’s risk management takes place in accordance with 
guidelines approved by the board. In connection with the establishment of the new business area the management initiated 
a project to identify and describe the various financial risk factors that the new business area faces and to determine the 
guidelines that the Company should follow for hedging. This project has not yet been completed.

The Group’s liquidity and financing risk
The Group has considerable financial strength at the end of 2010 against the background of the capital that has been raised in 
connection with the establishment of the new business area. The Company’s board and management have a strong focus on 
delivering results in accordance with the business plan that was presented in connection with the establishment of the new 
business area so that the Company should have the opportunity to raise capital in the equity market in connection with the 
further expansion of the business .

Capital structure
At the end of 2010 the Group had a very high equity ratio as a result of the capital raised for the new business area. The Group’s 
policy is that it will not own vessels but lease them on short to medium term charterparty contracts. In addition the Group 
wishes to have extension options. These will mean that the Company will have significant lease obligations that are off-balance 
sheet. With regard to these lease obligations the Group has an objective that its equity ratio should at all times be in excess of 
30%.

The Group’s interest rate risk
At the end of 2010 the Group had no interest-bearing debt. Drawings on interest-bearing loans are expected to be made during 
the second quarter and currently these loans are all at floating interest rates. Consideration will be given as to whether parts of 
the debt should be hedged at a fixed interest rate through an interest rate swap agreement. Bank deposits at the end of 2010 
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were placed at floating rates. Consideration will be given to placing parts of the deposits at fixed rates for short time periods 
depending on the expected development in interest rates and estimated liquidity requirements.

THE INTERCONNECT BUSINESS
Currency risk
The business operates internationally and is exposed to a currency risk in several currencies. This risk is particularly relevant 
in relation to US dollars and Euros. The currency risk arises from future commercial transactions and capitalised assets and 
liabilities. In order to manage currency risk from future commercial transactions and capitalised assets and liabilities, the 
business may enter into forward foreign exchange contracts with external financial institutions. As at 31.12.2010 the Group had 
no forward foreign exchange contracts. The currency risk arises when future commercial transactions or capitalised assets or 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

Credit risk 
The business has no significant concentrations of credit risk. Routines have been established that ensure that sales of products 
take place to customers with satisfactory creditworthiness. As a large part of the income is from long-term OEM (“Original 
Equipment Manufacturer”) contracts where close cooperation has been established, the Group’s ability to evaluate the credit 
risk is considered to be good .

THE SEISMIC BUSINESS
Currency risk
The business’s income will be in USD and most of the costs will also be in USD. The business, however, will have a large part of 
its costs in Norwegian kroner. Currently the currency risk is reduced by the fact that the Group has a significant part of its cash 
holdings in Norwegian kroner. The main part of the company’s cash holdings have during 2011 been exchanged into USD as a 
result of significant lease obligations the business has in USD.

Credit risk
Against the background of the fact that the business initially will only have two vessels and each contract will be of some size, 
the business will have a considerable credit concentration during the start-up phase.  The business’s first contracts are with 
major reputable customers. In connection with the establishment of contracts the credit risk will be evaluated as part of an 
overall assessment of the contract. 

SENSITIVITY
Analysis of sensitivity and currency risk related to USD
A sensitivity analysis based on currency for 2010 indicates that a 10% strengthening of NOK against USD would have improved 
the result by NOK 0.1 million and increased equity by NOK 0.3 million, excluding the effect on equity that follows directly 
from the improved result. A 10% weakening of NOK against USD would have had a corresponding effect but the opposite of 
the above amounts so long as all other variables remained constant. The sensitivity analysis has been calculated based on the 
figures in USD in the 2010 accounts and assumes that all other variables remained constant. The calculations have been based 
on amounts and exchange rates as at 31 December 2010 .

FAIR VALUE
Calculation of fair value
For unquoted financial assets fair value has been set at the value that investors paid for the shares in connection with the major 
issue in June 2009. Subsequent to this issue there have been smaller issues at the same or a slightly higher price. There are no 
other observable market prices for the share and the shareholding must be regarded as relatively illiquid.

The following of the Company’s financial assets have not been valued at fair value: cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, other current receivables and accounts payable.

Set out on the following page is a comparison of book value and fair value for the Group’s financial instruments.
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Financial assets  Book value Fair value
Shares  2 179 699 2 179 699
Cash  366 859 834 366 859 834
Accounts receivable  1 591 263 1 591 263
  
Financial liabilities  
Accounts payable  2 059 427 2 059 427

NOTE 10 – OVERVIEW OF INVESTMENTS IN GROUP COMPANIES AND OTHER COMPANIES

The company has shares in the following subsidiaries and all subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements:

      Ownership/
Company Country  Main business  Cost price   Book value voting interest
Dolphin Geophysical AS Norway Geophysical services  110 000 110 000 100 % 
  Product development
Dolphin Interconnect Solutions AS Norway and sales IT  110 000 110 000 100 % 
  Product development
Dolphin Interconnect Solutions NA Inc USA and sales IT  36 244 691 0 100 % 
Total    36 464 691 220 000

Based on an evaluation of the earnings of the subsidiary Dolphin Interconnect Solutions NA Inc  the investment was written 
down in full in 2009.  This involved a charge on the Parent company’s accounts of NOK 8,809,996, which is presented under 
financial items in the Parent company’s financial statements. 

 The Parent company (also included the consolidated financial statement) has shares in the following company:

Company  Total shares  Cost price Book value Ownership
Numascale AS  2 179 699   21 066 222 2 179 699 5,48 %

The shares in Numascale AS were written down to NOK 1.00 per share in 2009. This corresponds to the value that investors paid 
for shares in Numascale AS in connection with a major issue in June 2009. 

In connection with the fact that Numascale ceased to be a subsidiary and assessment was made of the fair value of the shares in 
the company. This involved making a write-down in the Parent company accounts of NOK 18,886,523 in relation to Numascale 
which is presented under financial items. In the consolidated financial statements this assessment has been made in connection 
with the fact that Numascale ceased to be a subsidiary and has resulted in a loss of NOK 8,966,852 which is presented under 
financial items.  Reference is also made to the details in note 19.
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NOTE 11 – MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT

Parent company Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost 1.1.2010 1 512 054
Additions 0
Disposals  0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2010  1 512 054
 
Accumulated depreciation 1.1.2010 1 471 925
Depreciation for the year 40 129
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2010   1 512 054
Book value 31.12.2010   0
 
Economic life 3-5 years

Consolidated accounts Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost 1.1.2010 3 310 959
Conversion differences 0
Additions 395 676
Disposals  0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2010  3 706 635
 
Accumulated depreciation 1.1.2010 3 270 824
Depreciation for the year 40 129
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2010  3 310 953
Book value 31.12.2010  395 682
  
Economic life 3-5 years
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

NOTE 12 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Parent company Capitalised development
Acquisition cost 1.1.2010 19 645 230
Additions 427 300
Disposals  0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2010  20 072 530
 
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs 1.1.2010 18 337 886
Depreciation for the year 704 580
Write-downs for the year 0
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs on disposal 0
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs 31.12.2010  19 042 466
Book value 31.12.2010  1 030 064
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   Capitalised 
Consolidated accounts    Goodwill development Total
Acquisition cost 1.1.2010  8 619 170 61 318 699 69 937 869
Currency effect  0 92 357 92 357
Additions  0 427 300 427 300
Disposals    0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2010    8 619 170 61 838 356 70 457 526
    
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs 1.1.2010  8 619 170 45 538 234 54 157 404
Currency effect  0 32 261 32 261
Depreciation for year  0 4 588 067 4 588 067
Write-downs for the year  0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs on disposal  0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs 31.12.2010   8 619 170 50 158 562 58 777 732
Book value 31.12.2010    0 11 679 794 11 679 794

The capitalised value is depreciated over the period the products are expected to provide income. The period is assessed 
separately for each product/ product group and varies from 3 to 10 years. At each balance sheet date an assessment is made of 
whether expected future earnings can support the capitalised development costs, see note 14.

NOK 33.6 million of the total acquisition cost of intangible assets represents goodwill allocated to capitalised development costs 
in connection with the purchase of StarGen Inc in 2007.

Goodwill relates entirely to the purchase of Stargen Inc in 2007  and the remaining goodwill value was written down in full as  at 
31 December 2008 .

NOTE 13 – DEPRECIATION

Parent company   2010 2009
Machinery and equipment (see note 9)  40 129 119 602
Capitalised development (see note 10)  704 580 1 072 485
Total   744 709 1 192 087
   
Consolidated accounts   2010 2009
Machinery and equipment (see note 9)  40 129 150 131
Capitalised development (see note 10)  4 588 067 3 935 353
Total   4 628 196 4 085 484

NOTE 14 – WRITE-DOWN TEST FOR INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Capitalised development costs in the consolidated accounts amounted as at 31.12.2010 to NOK 11.7 million (NOK 15.8 million 
in 2009). This relates to various products that have been developed and which are under development. All the capitalised 
development costs relate to the Interconnect businesses and this segment as a whole is used as the cash flow generating unit. 
Expected cash flows are based on budgets and forecasts approved by the management and board of directors. The cash flows 
are set on the basis of the strategy that has been drawn up for the Interconnect segment.

Write-down tests were made by the management in April 2011. The recoverable amount is set on the basis of an assessment 
of the use value. The use value is calculated based on discounting expected future net cash flows after tax, discounted by a 
relevant discount rate before tax that takes into account maturity and risk. The interest rate that has been used for discounting 
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the cash flows is 20% (after tax). The interest rate has been set on the basis of the fact that the Interconnect business has 
similarities with businesses in a venture phase and the interest rate must thus be considered in relation to the yield requirement 
for venture companies. Growth in working capital of 10% is assumed. The cash flow has been specifically valued for a time 
horizon of five years and by adding in the present value of the terminal element based on the cash flow in year five without 
adding growth. The present value of the cash flow in the 5-year period amounts to approximately 20% of the estimated use 
value while the remaining 80% relates to the terminal element. Based on the valuation carried out the use value will correspond 
to the capitalised value so that the capitalised value as at 31.12.2010 can be maintained without further write-downs. In the 
fourth quarter of 2009 a write-down was made of a specific development product project that the Parent company has chosen 
to terminate without the project being completed. This write-down amounted to NOK 0.7 million.

A sensitivity analysis shows that the use value would have been NOK 9.0 million lower if sales were 10 percentage points lower 
than expected, and involved a write-down of NOK 4.3 million. Correspondingly the sensitivity analysis shows that a reduction in 
the EBITDA margin of 5 percentage points would reduce the use value by NOK 8.4 million, and involve a write-down of NOK 3.8 
million .

The sensitivity analysis further shows that an increase in the discount rate of 5 percentage points, everything else remaining 
equal, would involve a reduction in the use value of NOK 5.9 million, and involve a write-down of NOK 1.3 million.

NOTE 15 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Accounts Receivable
No write-downs have been made on accounts receivable in the Parent company or the consolidated accounts in 2010 or 2009. 
Accounts receivable as at 31.12.2010 and 31.12.2009 have been valued at par, respectively NOK 193,973 and NOK 121,655 for 
the Parent company and NOK 1,591,263 and NOK 666,918 for the consolidated accounts.

Recognised losses on accounts receivable amounted to 0 in 2010 and 2009 for both the Parent company and the consolidated 
accounts .

Accounts receivable as at 31 December had the following maturities:

 Parent company   Consolidated accounts
  2010 2009  2010 2009
Maturity 0 - 30  days  162 852 121 655  665 582 363 838
Maturity 31 - 90  days  14 375 0  741 670 286 328
Maturity 91 - 365  days  16 746 0  184 011 16 752
Maturity more than one year ago  0 0  0 0
Total  193 973 121 655  1 591 263 666 918

Other receivables
VAT receivable  381 393 340 622  381 393 340 622
Receivables on group companies  14 900 000 13 064 904  0 0
Prepayments and miscellaneous  111 816 526 712  129 345 583 231
Total  15 393 209 13 932 238  510 738 923 853

The Parent company’s receivables on group companies relate to the subsidiary Dolphin Interconnect Solutions NA Inc. In 
connection with the closure of the accounts an evaluation was made of this receivable which has resulted in a write-down 
being made of the receivable of NOK 696,936 in 2010 (NOK 8,926,150 in 2009).  The write-down is included in net financial 
items in the Parent company’s income statement.  The receivable has thus in total been written down by NOK 9,623,086 as at 
31 .12 .2010 .
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NOTE 16 – GOODS
 Parent company   Consolidated accounts
  2010 2009  2010 2009
Inventory  8 945 068 9 105 562  9 806 621 10 091 789
Written down for obsolescence  -7 650 024 -7 515 024  -7 681 356 -7 515 024
Book value  1 295 044 1 590 538  2 125 265 2 576 765

In 2009 a write-down of inventory was made totalling approximately NOK 7.5 million for the Parent company and in the 
consolidated accounts. A significant part of the write-down related to goods that in the fourth quarter of 2009 had been sold 
by the subsidiary company in the USA to the Parent company. Under the agreement the sale price for the goods that were sold 
between the companies was to be reduced for any obsolescent goods. As a result of this review the Parent company has been 
refunded NOK 1,491,866 from the subsidiary in the USA and this amount has been accounted for as a reduction in the Parent 
company’s cost of goods for 2010. The transaction has no effect on the figures in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 17 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Parent company and in consolidated accounts:
Out of total liquid funds as at 31.12.2010 restricted bank deposits amounted to NOK 227,873 (NOK 988,719 in 2009).   All the 
restricted bank deposits relate to the Parent company .

NOTE 18 – SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31.12.10 the Company’s share capital amounts to NOK 319,719,410 divided into 159,859,705 shares of NOK 2.00 par value 
per share .

The Company’s 20 largest shareholders as at 31.12.2010    Total shares     %-share
Morgan Stanley & Co Inc  Nominee 31 812 100 19,90% 
Six Sis AG 25 pct  Nominee 24 080 000 15,06% 
Holberg Norden   9 895 635 6,19% 
UBS AG, London Branch  Nominee 7 224 000 4,52% 
MP Pensjon   4 816 000 3,01% 
Varma Mutual Pensjon   4 795 800 3,00% 
Staff-Gruppen   4 000 000 2,50% 
Storebrand Vekst   4 000 000 2,50% 
TAJ Holding AS   4 000 000 2,50% 
Holberg Norge   3 820 967 2,39% 
Citibank N.A. (Jersey Branch)  Nominee 3 612 000 2,26% 
KLP Aksje Norge   3 000 000 1,88% 
Økonomi og Regnskapsbistand AS   2 900 000 1,81% 
Three M AS   2 817 034 1,76% 
NHO   2 800 000 1,75% 
Delphi Norden   2 700 000 1,69% 
Fjord Partners Invest AS   2 500 000 1,56% 
Epsilon AS   2 408 000 1,51% 
Storebrand Global Energy   2 408 000 1,51% 
Dukat AS   2 000 000 1,25% 
Total 20 largest shareholders     125 589 536 78,56% 

In total the Company had 651 shareholders as at 31 .12 .2010 .
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  Owned by Owned by
  connected company in    
  persons/  which leading   
Shares owned by board members: 1) Owned self companies  position Total shares Options Warrants
Anne Grete Ellingsen 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ole Henrik Eide 6 945 295 507 0 302 452 150 000 0
Hege Eikeland 0 0 950 000 950 000 0 0
Marit Døving 0 0 0 0 0 0
Simen Thoresen 20 000 0 0 20 000 25 000 0
Terje Rogne 0 0 0 0 0 0
      
1) These are shares owned by present board as at 31.12.2010.
      
Shares owned by senior management:      
Atle Jacobsen 0 2 842 034 0 2 842 034 0 1 598 000
Erik Hokholt 0 2 900 000 0 2 900 000 0 1 598 000
Hugo Kohmann 82 800 0 0 82 800 150 000 0
Ketil Sundal 20 000 0 0 20 000 150 000 0

NOTE 19 – FINANCIAL ITEMS

 Parent company   Consolidated accounts
Net financial items  2010 2009  2010 2009
 Interest income  1 196 924 84 792  117 717 84 792
Agio / - disagio  290 992 -5 103 131  28 160 -4 760 290
Loss on disposal of subsidiary  0 0  0 -8 966 852
Write-down of shares in subsidiary  0 -27 696 519  0 0
Write-down of loans subsidiary  -696 936 -8 926 150  0 0
Other interest and financial expenses  -77 507 -129 446  -31 140 -130 446
Total  713 473 -41 770 454  114 737 -13 772 796

NOTE 20 – OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

  Parent company   Consolidated accounts
Other current liabilities  2010 2009  2010 2009
Social security contributions  156 107 121 895  156 107 121 895
Tax deductions  227 873 126 811  227 873 126 811
Holiday pay  566 159 249 893  691 251 249 893
Debt to Group company  4 947 0  0 0
Accrued salaries and fees  955 264 584 562  1 268 796 584 562
Other short-term liabilities  1 040 370 480 390  1 271 576 1 142 269
Total  2 950 720 1 563 551  3 615 603 2 225 430
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NOTE 21 – OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Parent company and in the consolidated accounts:
Other long-term liabilities relates to a loan from Etnus Inc in the USA in USD.  The total debt as at 31.12.2009 amounted to USD 
43,075 (USD 83,617 in 2008). The loan carried an interest at 3 % per year and was repaid in 2010.

NOTE 22 – TAX

Parent company   2010 2009
Tax payable  0 0
Change in deferred tax  -24 831 240 0
Tax charge ordinary result    -24 831 240  0
  
Reconciliation from nominal to actual tax rate    2010  2009
Ordinary result before tax  -22 449 387 -60 624 221
Expected corporation tax at nominal tax rate (28%)   -6 285 828  -16 974 782 
   
Tax effect of following items    
Change in non-capitalised deferred tax asset  -22 827 655 9 177 136
Share issue expenses  -5 460 776 0
Tax on share issue expenses posted against equity  5 418 760 0
Start-up expenses  4 207 000  
Option expenses  114 123 41 943
Write down of shares  0 7 755 025
Non-deductible expenses    3 138  678
Tax charge  -24 831 238 0
Effective tax rate    110,6 %  0,0 %

Specification of the tax effect of temporary differences and the loss carried forward:  

 2010   2009
  Asset Liability  Asset Liability
Fixed assets  205 621 0  294 498 0
Gains and losses account  0 1 067 204  0 1 334 005
Inventory  2 142 007 0  2 104 207 0
Receivables  2 694 464 0  2 499 322 0
Other provisions  166 040 0  150 080 
Loss  carried forward   32 443 602 0   25 448 084 0
Total   37 651 734 1 067 204   30 496 191 1 334 005
      
Non-capitalised deferred tax asset  6 334 530   29 162 186 
Net deferred tax asset in the balance sheet   30 250 000     0  
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At the end of 2010 the Parent company had a tax loss carried forward of NOK 115,870,007.

The Company has thus in 2010 chosen to capitalise the deferred tax asset related to the losses carried forward in Norway. 
This has been done against the background of an assessment that the company in future will generate taxable profits that 
indicate that it will be able to utilise the tax asset. The assessments are based on the change in the Group’s business with the 
establishment of a new business area that took place in the fourth quarter of 2010, and the board’s expectations related to 
the company’s development and future prospects. Pursuant to this the Company is in the process of entering into customer 
contracts related to leased vessels that will generate sufficient future taxable profits such that the loss carried forward as at 31 
December 2010 can be fully utilised during the period 2011–2013. The tax charge for 2010 thus contains a posting to income of 
this tax asset .

Consolidated accounts    2010  2009
Tax payable  45 767 31 037
Change in deferred tax  -25 692 867 530 731
Tax charge ordinary result    -25 647 100  561 768 
   
Reconciliation from nominal to actual tax rate    2010  2009
Ordinary result before tax  -25 607 277 -43 224 148
Expected corporation tax at nominal tax rate (28%)   -7 170 038 -12 102 761
  
Tax effect of following items  
Change in non-capitalised deferred tax asset  -23 137 714 4 717 578
Different tax rate  332 641 -91 972
Issue expenses  -5 460 776 0
Tax on issue expenses posted against equity  5 418 760 0
Start-up expenses  4 207 000 0
Option expenses  114 123 41 943
Effect of purchases/discontinuation subsidiaries  0 2 708 076
Write down of shares  0 5 288 226
Non-deductible expenses    48 904  678
Tax charge  -25 647 100 561 768
Effective tax rate    100,2 %  -1,3 %

Specification of the tax effect of temporary differences and the loss carried forward:
 2010   2009
  Asset Liability  Asset Liability
Fixed assets  0 1 206 177  0 2 358 791
Gains and losses account  0 1 067 204  0 1 334 005
Inventory  2 142 007 0  2 104 207 0
Receivables  0 0  0 0
Other provisions  166 040 0  24 224 0
Loss  carried forward   36 168 949 0   29 794 066 0
Total   38 476 996 2 273 381   31 922 497 3 692 796
      
Non-capitalised deferred tax asset  7 365 413   30 503 127 
Net deferred tax asset in the balance sheet  30 250 000 1 411 798   0 2 273 426

At the end of 2010 the Group had a tax loss carried forward of NOK 128,326,557. This does not include the losses carried 
forward from StarGen Inc in the period prior to its purchase in 2007. 
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The Company has in 2010 decided to capitalise the deferred tax asset related to the losses carried forward in Norway. This has 
been done against the background of an assessment that the Group in future will generate taxable profits that indicate that 
it will be able to utilise the tax asset. The assessment is based on the change in the Group’s business with the establishment 
of a new business area that took place in the fourth quarter of 2010, and the board’s expectations related to the Group’s 
development and future prospects. Pursuant to this, the Group is in the process of entering into customer contracts related to 
leased vessels that will generate sufficient future taxable profits such that the loss carried forward as at 31 December 2010 can 
be fully utilised during the period 2011–2013. The tax charge for 2010 thus contains a “posting to income” of this tax asset.

The Company also has deferred tax liabilities related to its business in the USA but due to the fact that this is a separate tax 
regime this tax liability cannot be netted against the deferred tax asset in Norway.

NOTE 23 – PENSIONS
The Parent company’s employees have a defined contribution-based pension scheme.  As of 31.12.2010 there were 7 members 
in the scheme in the Parent company (6 in 2009). The pension scheme is administered by an insurance company. In addition 
to the scheme for the Parent company’s employees the Group had a defined contribution-based scheme for employees in 
the USA, which was closed during the first half of 2010. At the time the scheme was closed it had 2 members (3 members at 
31 .12 .2009) .

 Parent company  Consolidated accounts
  2010 2009  2010 2009
Contributions expensed  243 338 303 251  248 718 781 336

NOTE 24 – PAYROLL EXPENSES Parent company  Consolidated accounts
Net financial items  2010 2009  2010 2009
Salaries and board fees  5 616 300 4 412 592  7 025 672 12 534 283
Social security contributions  922 987 386 846  1 035 771 1 191 133
Pension costs, see note 23  243 338 303 251  248 718 781 336
Employee option programme  407 581 149 796  407 581 149 796
Other benefits  102 033 622 809  318 558 1 002 584
Total  7 292 239 5 875 294  9 036 300 15 659 132

In 2010 the Parent company employed 6.7 man-years (9.1 man-years in 2009), while the Group employed 9.0 man-years in 2010 
(21.7 man-years in 2009).

NOTE 25 – FUTURE LEASE AND GUARANTEE LIABILITIES
As a result of the establishment of the new geophysical business, Dolphin entered into agreements with CG Rieber Shipping 
(”RISH”) and Armada Seismic on the long-term leasing of the vessels Polar Explorer (2D seismic ship) and Polar Explorer (3D  
seismic ship)  for respectively 1  and 5 years. Dolphin has an option to extend the lease agreement for PoIar Explorer for one 
year at a time for a period of a further 4 years.  In addition Dolphin has an option to extend the lease of the vessel Polar Duke 
for a period of a further 6 years.  The options are structured on pre-agreed commercial terms.  In addition RISH has given 
Dolphin an option on a long-term lease of NB 533 (a corresponding ship to Polar Duke) on pre-agreed commercial terms, and an 
exclusive right to negotiate terms for NB 535 subject to fulfilment of certain conditions. 

Polar Explorer was delivered at the end of January 2011 and Polar Duke is expected to be delivered to Dolphin in early May 
2011.  From the time the vessels are delivered the lease agreements will be accounted for as operational leasing in accordance 
with IAS 17,  Lease agreements.
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The lease liabilities relating to the chartering of the vessels have been assumed by the company Dolphin Geophysical AS and are 
denominated in USD.  The lease liabilities as at 31.12.2010 have been converted to NOK based on the exchange rate USD/NOK 
at 31.2.2010 of 5.8564.  Fulfilment of the lease obligations in the charter parties is guaranteed by the Parent company so that 
Dolphin Group ASA as at 31.12.2010 has a guarantee liability that corresponds to the future cumulative minimum payments that 
the subsidiary has .

The Parent company has lease liabilities related to premises and certain office machines. The rent for the premises is subject to 
indexation. Common expenses are included as part of the lease liabilities. The Company had only short-term premises leases as 
at 31 .12 .2010 .

Future cumulative minimum payments related to the lease agreements are as follows:

 Parent company   Consolidated accounts
  2010 2009  2010 2009
Falling due within 1 year  80 000 424 000  122 621 744 496 208
Falling due between 1 and 5 years  0 0  432 549 487 0
Falling due later than 5 years  0 0  23 338 164 0
Total lease liabilities  80 000 424 000  578 509 396 496 208

Guarantee liabilities in Parent company  2010 2009
Guarantee liability related to subsidiaries’ fulfilment of charterparty agreements 578 409 396 0

There are no guarantee liabilities in the consolidated accounts.
   Salary and    
   other rem- Board fees Option Warrant 
Remuneration to board Title Period uneration  for 2010* costs costs
Anne-Grete Ellingsen 1) Chairman From 06.01.2011 0 0 0 0
Ole Henrik Eide 2) Deputy Chairman 1 .1 .  - 31 .12 . 0 75 000 76 615 0
Marit Døving Board member 1.1.  - 31.12. 0 110 000 0 0
Hege Eikeland Board member 24 .6 . - 31 .12 . 0 40 000 0 0
Terje Rogne 1) Board member From 06.01.2011 0 0 0 0
Simen Thoresen 3) Board member 1 .1 .  - 31 .12 . 583 265 0 12 769 0
      
Former board members:      
Atle Jacobsen 4) Chairman 24 .6 .-31 .12 . 360 000 0 0 3 005 000
Erik Hokholt 5) Board member 24 .6 .-31 .12 . 300 000 0 0 3 005 000
Alf Rasmussen Board member 1 .1 . - 23 .6 0 70 000 0 0
Tor Alfheim Board member 1.1. - 23.6 0 70 000 0 0
Cecilie Vanem Board member 1.1. - 23.6 0 70 000 0 0

*Board fees for 2010  relate to fees for the board period 2009/2010  and the second half-year 2010.

1) Anne-Grete Ellingsen, Chairwoman and Terje Rogne, board member took up their appointments on 6 January 2011. As a 
result they did not receive board fees for 2010.

2) The deputy chairman of the board Ole Henrik Eide was Chairman up to and including 23 June 2010 and then took up the 
position of Deputy Chairman of the board. As part of his compensation for 2009/2010 and 2010/2011 Eide elected to take 
options in accordance with a resolution at the Annual General Meeting 2010.
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3)  Simen Thoresen is the employee representative on the board. Thoresen does not receive separate remuneration for his role 
as board member .

4) Atle Jacobsen was chairman in the period 24 June 2010 - 5 January 2011, and from 6 January 2011 he has been the 
Company’s chief executive. Jacobsen has not received board fees for the period he was chairman. In connection with his 
appointment as the new Chief Executive with effect from 6 January 2011 Jacobsen was paid special compensation for 2010 
of two months salary for the work that was put into starting the new business area. In his employment contract Jacobsen has 
provision for post-termination salary for 12 months after the expiry of the notice period of 6 months, which will be triggered 
if the board asks him to resign from his position.  In addition Jacobsen has the right to corresponding post-termination salary 
in the event of changes on the ownership side (“change of control”) involving changes of such nature and content that he 
wishes to resign from the position. In connection with the establishment of the new business area the company Three M 
AS,  which is a company that is 100 %  owned by Jacobsen,  was awarded 1,598,000  warrants in Dolphin Group ASA.  The 
valuation of these warrants is further described in note 8.

5) Erik Hokholt was a board member in the period 24 June 2010 - 5 January 2011, and from 6 January 2011 he has held the 
position as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. Hokholt has not received fees for the period he was a board member. 
In connection with his appointment as the new Chief Financial Officer with effect from 6 January 2011 Hokholt was paid 
special compensation for 2010 of two months salary for the work that was put into starting the new business area. In his 
employment contract Hokholt has provision for post-termination salary for 12 months after the expiry of the notice period 
of 6 months, which will be triggered if the board asks him to resign from his position. In addition Hokholt has the right to 
corresponding post-termination salary in the event of changes on the ownership side (“change of control”) involving changes 
of such nature and content that he wishes to resign from the position. In connection with the establishment of the new 
business area the company Økonomi og Regnskapsbistand AS, which is a company that is 100 % owned by Hokholt, was 
awarded 1,598,000 warrants in Dolphin Group ASA.  The valuation of these warrants is further described in note 8.

    Other rem- Pension Option
Remuneration to senior management Title Period Salary uneration costs costs
Glenn Nøstdahl CEO 1.1. - 31.12. 82 500 0 0 0
Ketil Sundal CFO 7.1. - 31.12. 889 251 15 391 106 803 76 615
Hugo Kohmann COO 1.1. - 31.12. 916 941 8 977 106 803 76 615

Glenn Nøstdahl – CEO in the period 1 January 2010 - 5 January 2011
Glenn Nøstdahl took over as CEO on 1 January 2010. Nøstdahl was expected to use between 10-20% of his time in the company.  
In connection with the establishment of the new business area within marine geophysics it was agreed that Nøstdahl should 
give up his position and he resigned on 6 January 2011.  In connection with Nøstdahl’s resignation he was paid full salary for 
January 2011 .

Ketil Sundal – CFO in the period 7 January 2010 - 5 January 2011
Ketil Sundal took over as CFO  on 7 January 2010  and resigned from the position on 5 January 2011  in connection with the 
establishment of the new business area within marine geophysics. Sundal has an agreement whereby on termination of his 
position in the Group prior to 5 January 2012  he has the rights to one year’s salary as compensation.

Loans to Chief Executive and board members
There are no loans to the Chief Executive, shareholders or members of the board as at 31.12.2010.
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Auditor
Audit fees expensed for the Parent company and in the consolidated accounts in 2010 were as follows, excluding VAT:

 Parent company  Consolidated accounts
Statutory audit  155 700  155 700
Tax advice  0  0
Other non-audit services  21 300  21 300
Total fees  177 000  177 000

The board’s declaration on remuneration to the Chief Executive and senior management
In accordance with §6–16 A of the Norwegian Public Companies Act the board has prepared a declaration relating to the 
determination of the salary and other remuneration of the Chief Executive and senior management. The guidelines below for 
the Chief Executive’s and senior management’s salary and other remuneration for the coming financial year will be presented to 
shareholders for an advisory vote at the Annual General Meeting in May 2011.

Dolphin Group ASA is an international company that operates within the global seismic sector and the IT sector. A fundamental 
principle is that remuneration and other benefits to senior management should be competitive so that the company is an 
attractive place to work and is able to attract and retain the right employees – people who perform, develop and learn. The 
aggregate salary package must therefore reflect both the national and international framework in which the company operates.

The compensation to senior management includes both fixed and variable elements. The fixed element consists of a base salary and 
other remuneration. Other remuneration includes newspaper subscriptions, mobile telephone, Internet and similar benefits. 
The fixed element also includes a mandatory defined contribution pension scheme that covers all employees in the company.

The variable elements consist of a bonus scheme and participation in a share option programme. In connection with the 
establishment of the new business area an option scheme was approved for all employees in the geophysical business area. 
The award of options pursuant to the scheme has taken place in the first quarter of 2011 and further details of the main terms 
are set out in note 30. Vesting requires the achievement of specifically defined result targets by the business. No upper limits 
have been established in relation to the option scheme but the award of options to each of the senior management is such that 
the development in the company’s share price should be to the advantage of the value of the options over the programme’s 
lifetime so that their value exceeds the aggregate base salary in the option period. The background to the option scheme is 
that the company has wished to establish long-term incentive arrangements for key personnel as the long-term commitment 
of managers and key personnel is regarded as vitally important to the further development of the company. In addition the 
board has given notice of the planned establishment of a general bonus scheme for the geophysical business that will include all 
employees in the business. The details relating to the scheme have not yet been determined but will partially be based on the 
achievement of financial results and partially on other goal criteria that will be important for the development of the company. 
The details of the bonus scheme will also be harmonised with what is expected to be the rising value of the option scheme 
during the first year. Upper bonus limits will be established for the scheme and the scheme is to be developed by management in 
cooperation with the established compensation committee before it is presented to the whole board for final approval. In the case 
of the Interconnect business a long-term bonus scheme has been established under which payment is limited to 4 months salary.

The company’s Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer have contractual post-termination salary arrangements if they are 
asked by the board to resign from their positions. The arrangements are the same and provide that they have right to post-
termination salary for 15 months after the expiry of the notice period of 3 months. The arrangement has provisions to shorten 
the post-termination salary after 12 months from the date of resignation to the extent the relevant person takes up a new 
position during the remaining post-termination salary period. In addition they have the right to corresponding post-termination 
salary in cases where there are changes on the ownership side (“change of control”) that mean that the nature and character 
of the job is changed so that they wish to resign from their positions. It is the board’s view that the senior management salary 
policy that was reported and explained at the company’s Annual General Meeting in 2010 has been observed during the year.
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NOTE 27 – OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Overview of outstanding options and warrants  2010  2009
Outstanding options and warrants 1.1.2010  130 446 150 548
Awarded during the year  8 701 000 176 500
Expired during the year  -79 606 -196 602
Exercised during the year  0 0
Outstanding options and warrants 31.12.2010   8 751 840  130 446
Of which vested  8 396 340 52 946

Against the background of a splice of the companies shares that was carried out during 2009 earlier option schemes s have been 
adjusted in the same way so that 10 earlier options have become one option and the original exercise price has been multiplied 
by 10. The options relate to 7 different incentive programmes that were established from 2007 until 2010 as described below. 
With the exception of the warrants that have been issued to former employees in StarGen Inc, the award of options in accordance 
with the new option programme has taken place on the condition that the employees give up their award under earlier option 
programmes. The background to this is that the development of the company’s share price has meant that the older schemes 
in reality have become virtually worthless. For accounting purposes under relevant accounting standards the company has 
continued to expense the option cost in the earlier schemes. An overview of the status of the different schemes is set out below.

1)  Employees in the former StarGen Inc were for awarded a total of 90,000 warrants at an exercise price of NOK 139 per share.  
There were 48,640 outstanding warrants as at 31.12.2010 and all are vested. The latest date for exercising the warrants is 
16.02.2012.  None of the warrants has been exercised as at 31.12.2010.

2) Employees in 2007 were allotted a total of 32,600 options at an exercise price of NOK 175 per share. The vesting period was 
2 years and the options could originally be exercised for up to 4 years from the award date.  At the end of 2010 1200 options 
were outstanding relating to this scheme, while the remaining options have lapsed. The outstanding options have vested. 

3) In July 2009 employees were awarded a total of 176,500 options at an exercise price of NOK 3.50 per share. The options 
were divided into three lots with vesting periods of respectively 1 year, 2 years and 3 years and they can be exercised within 
6 years of the award date. In 2009 99,000 of the options lapsed and during the year a further 76,500 options lapsed, so that 
the outstanding number of options at the year-end was 1,000 options. All options have vested as at 31.12.2010.

4) In October 2010 711,000 options were awarded to the company’s employees and Deputy Chairman. The exercise price 
is NOK 2.25 per share. 355,500 of these options had vested as at 31.12.2010 and the remaining 50% depending on result 
targets. It is estimated that the result target will be achieved in 2011 so that the last options will be vested during 2011. The 
options can be exercised once they have vested, no later than 30 June 2014. 

5) As a result of the establishment of a new business area within marine seismic, at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 20 
December 2010 it was resolved to award 7,990,000 warrants. No consideration was paid for the warrants. The deadline for 
exercise of the warrants expires on 20 December 2015. See note 8 for further information regarding these warrants.

The fair value of the options awarded in the period has been calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  The most 
important assumptions in the calculation are as follows:
· Last known share price
· The risk-free interest rate based on the yield on Norwegian government bonds with a corresponding maturity to the options. 
· The options’ expected maturity
· Volatility based on data from the Oslo Stock Exchange
· An estimate for total exercise of options varies between 60-100 %, depending on the time forward to vesting.
· The expected vesting period for options is based on result targets

For options awarded in October 2010 the risk-free interest rate has been set at 2.3975%, the expected maturity set at 3.75 years 
and the estimated volatility set at 55%.

I 2010 NOK 0.41 million has been expensed regarding the company’s option schemes.
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  2010  2009
Result for the year after tax  39 822 -42 662 380
Weighted average number of issued shares  10 603 735 2 267 111
Earnings after tax per share  0,00 -18,82
   
Total comprehensive result  -10 397 -38 983 655
Weighted average number of issued shares  10 603 735 2 267 111
Comprehensive earnings per share  0,00 -17,20

NOTE 28 – EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the result for the year before any minority interests by a weighted average of the 
outstanding issued shares during the year .

The diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the annual result by the weighted average number of issued shares and 
issued options during the year.

  2010  2009
Result for the year after tax  39 822 -42 662 380
Weighted average number of issued shares and issued options  10 685 324 2 267 111
Diluted earnings per share  0,00 -18,82
   
Total comprehensive result  -10 397 -38 983 655
Weighted average number of issued shares and issued options  10 685 324 2 267 111
Comprehensive earnings per share  0,00 -17,20

NOTE 29 – TRANSACTIONS WITH CONNECTED PARTIES
Loan agreement with GN Power AS
On 22 December 2009 the company signed a loan facility with the company GN Power AS for NOK 5 million. GN Power AS is a 
company controlled by Glenn Nøstdahl who was Chief Executive of Dolphin in 2010.  There were certain conditions for Dolphin 
to be able to draw on the loan facility.  These conditions were not fully satisfied by Dolphin, but due to the fact that Dolphin 
needed funds, GN Power waived fulfilment of these conditions so that Dolphin borrowed NOK 1.975 million of the facility during 
the first quarter of 2010. Following the refinancing of the company in May 2010 the loan was repaid on 1 June 2010.  The facility 
had an annual interest rate of 5%.

Agreement with Norsk Fibernett AS regarding lease of premises
During the first quarter of 2010 leased offices to Norsk Fibernett AS. Norsk Fibernett is a company controlled by Glenn Nøstdahl, 
Chief Executive of Dolphin in 2010.  The agreement was at market prices based on the arm’s-length principle, and the company 
invoiced Norsk Fibernett a total of NOK 26,048 in rent.

Agreement with Best Media AS regarding accounting and administrative services
As result of the planned integration of Best Media AS in Dolphin group, the companies started a process to integrate the 
administration of Best Media into Dolphin. The integration involved Dolphin beginning to carry out certain accounting and 
administrative services for Best Media.  When it was decided that companies should not be integrated, the process stopped 
and integration was reversed. The parties reached agreement on a fee of NOK 8,000 for the services Dolphin had carried out for 
Best Media .

Agreement and transactions with Numascale AS
The company rents from time to time some services to and from Numascale AS.  At the end of 2010 Dolphin held around 5.5% 
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of the shares in Numascale AS. Tor Alfheim is a boardmember of Numascale  and was boardmember of Dolphin until 23 June 
when he resigned from the board.  All transactions between the companies took place at market prices.  In 2010 there have 
been no material transactions between the companies. In May 2010 the companies agreed on making a bid for a major total 
hardware and software solution for a potential customer.  The companies are still in dialogue with the customer and if the 
companies get the contract it will be material for the company’s Interconnect business. Neither Dolphin nor Numascale would 
be able to deliver the proposed solution without co-operating with the other. Numascale has previously been a subsidiary of 
Dolphin, but the ownership interest has been reduced as result of share issues in which Dolphin has not participated.

Transactions and receivables between group companies
In 2010 the parent company had sales to the subsidiary in the USA of USD 190,182  (USD 5,149 in 2009).  At the end of 2010 
the parent company had receivables on the subsidiary of USD 4,187,399.  The receivable is accounted for at a value of NOK 
14,900,000 and is included in other short-term receivables in the parent company’s balance sheet.  The receivable was written 
down by NOK 696,396 in 2010 (NOK 8,926,150 in 2009) - the amount is included in net financial items for the parent company.  
The total write-down of the receivable amounts to NOK 9,622,546 as at 31.12.2010 (NOK 8,926,150  as at 31.12.2009).  Interest 
of NOK 1,079,212 has been calculated on the receivables in 2010 (NOK 0 in 2009)  - the amount is included in net financial items 
for the parent company.  In the fourth quarter of 2009 the parent company purchased goods from the subsidiary in the USA for 
a total of approximately USD 0.6 million.  Under the agreement the sale price of the goods sold between the companies was to 
be reduced for any obsolescent goods. As a consequence of this review the parent company has been refunded approximately 
USD 0.25 million (NOK 1,491,866) from the subsidiary in 2010.

The parent company had debt to the subsidiary Dolphin Geophysical AS of NOK 4,947 as at 31.12.2010.  The amount is included 
it in other short-term liabilities.

NOTE 30 – POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Decision by the Oslo Stock Exchange
The Oslo Stock Exchange has notified the Company of an administrative resolution made on 8 February 2011 whereby Dolphin 
Group ASA can maintain its listing on the Oslo Stock Exchange following the establishment of the new business area. 

Share issue in January 2011
Following the share placing in December 2010 a compensatory issue of up to 4,824,000 shares at a subscription price of NOK 
2.50 has been made. The purpose of the compensatory issue was to give existing shareholders who had not been given the 
opportunity to participate in the placing the opportunity to subscribe for shares. The subsequent issue took place in January 
2011 and was fully subscribed. The issue was registered in the Registry of Business Enterprises on 31 January 2011. Following 
this issue the company has a total of 164,683,705 shares outstanding .
 
Award of options in the first quarter of 2011
At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 December 2010 it was resolved to give the board authority to introduce a new 
option programme for the employees related to the establishment of the new geophysical business area. On 25 January 2011 
the board decided to introduce an option programme in accordance with the following terms:
· Exercise price set at NOK 2.50
· The options have an exercise period of 3 years with a maximum of one third of the options being exercisable each year 
· The board has included in the scheme several result targets as part of the vesting criteria for the options

The board authorisation relates to the issue of up to 14,400,000 options and the entire option limit has been awarded to 
employees during the first quarter of 2011 and the options will be accounted for from this time.

Lease agreement with Armada Seismic ASA
In March 2011 a lease agreement was reached with a company in the Armada Seismic group on the leasing of seismic 
equipment on the vessel Polar Duke.  The counterparty has financed the seismic equipment and the lease has a term of 5 years. 
The agreement will be accounted for as a financial lease contract.  The investment amounts to approximately USD 54 million. 
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The rent is based on an interest rate of 3 month LIBOR plus 4 %-points.  Originally it was the parties’ intention that a company 
in the Dolphin group should own and finance the equipment through, among other things, a loan from DnB NOR.  Following a 
review of the contract structure the parties have had to review the originally planned structure and the equipment will thus be 
formally owned by a company in the Armada Seismic group and leased to Dolphin.

Customer agreements for chartering vessels in April 2011
In April 2011 Dolphin Geophysical signed the first contracts to charter the vessels Polar Explorer (2D vessel) and Polar Duke 
(3D vessel). Dolphin took delivery of Polar Explorer at the end of January and the boat was leased to GX Technology Group Inc 
(GXT) for a 3-month project to collect seismic data off the west coast of Africa with an immediate start.  Dolphin expects to take 
delivery of Polar Duke in early May and it has reached agreement in principle with TGS NOPEX Geophysical Company ASA to 
lease the ship.  The lease will start in May and has a duration of a minimum of 3 months.  The agreement also gives an option to 
TGS NOPEC to extend the lease twice for respectively 2 and 6 months  on pre-agreed commercial terms.

Convertible loan
In April 2011 Dolphin reached final agreement on taking up a convertible loan from Armada Seismic ASA (Armada). The 
companies are in dialogue on the practical implementation of the agreement. The loan is for USD 6.5 million and has an interest 
rate of LIBOR plus 8%-points.   The loan include including accrued interest can be converted to shares in Dolphin subject to 
Dolphin exercising the option to charter a new seismic ship (NB 533) on pre-agreed terms. Dolphin must declare this option no 
later than 1 November 2011, and Armada must declare conversion no later than 1 December 2011.  The conversion price on the 
loan is NOK 2.50 per share. The loan agreement was entered into on the basis of the authorisation given to the board by the 
Extraordinary General Meeting on 20 December 2010.

NOTE 31 – REPORTING WITH EFFECT FROM 2011
With effect from the first quarter of 2011 the group will change its presentation currency from Norwegian kroner to US dollars 
against the background of the fact that the geophysical business has its functional currency in US dollars and this will represent 
the most important part of the Group’s activity in future.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECOTRS AND CEO

The Board of Directors and the CEO have today discussed and approved the annual report and financial statements for the 
Dolphin Group ASA, the Group and the Parent company, for both the calendar year 2010 and at the end of 31 December 
2010. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the EU-approved IFRS standards and 
interpretations, together with the additional disclosure requirements in the Norwegian Accounting Act to be applied per 
31.12.2010. The financial statements for the Parent company are prepared in accordance with EU-approved IFRS standards 
and the provisions on simplified IFRS in the financial statements contained in the Norwegian Accounting Act § 3-9, 5 paragraph. 
The annual report for the Group and the Parent is in compliance with the Accounting Act. To the best of our knowledge:

· 2010 financial statements for the Group and the Parent are prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards

· providing information in the financial statements gives a true and fair view of the Group and Parent company’s assets, 
liabilities, financial position and results of operations as of 31 December 2010 

· the board of directors report provides the Group and Parent company a fair review of
–  development, performance and position of the Group and Parent company
–  the most important risks and uncertainties the Group and the Parent company faces

Responsibility statement by the Board of Directors and CEO

Oslo, 29 April 2011

Anne-Grete Ellingsen (Chairman)

Hege Eikeland (Board member) 

Atle Jacobsen (CEO)

Ole Henrik Eide (Deputy Chairman)

Terje Rogne (Board member) 

Marit Elisabeth Døving (Board member)

Simen Thoresen (Board member – employee rep.) 
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To the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of
Dolphin Group ASA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Dolphin Group ASA, comprising
the financial statements for the Parent Company and the Group. The financial statements of
the Parent Company comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2010, the statements of
income showing a profit of NOK 2 381 853 and cash flows for the year then ended as well as a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. The financial
statements of the Group comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2010,
the statements of income and comprehensive income showing a profit of NOK 39 823, cash
flows and changes in equity for the year then ended as well as a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The Board of Directors’ and The Managing director’s responsibility for the financial
statements
The Board of Directors and The Managing director are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act
and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway for the financial
statements of the Parent Company and the International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU for the Group, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors and
The Managing director determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We have conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations and auditing standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements for the Parent Company and the
Group.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion, the financial statements of Dolphin Group ASA have been prepared in
accordance with laws and regulations and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Parent Company and the Group as of 31 December 2010 and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards on Accounting as adopted by the EU.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going
concern assumption and the proposal for the allocation of the result is consistent with the
financial statements and complies with the law and regulations.

Opinion on registration and documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3000, ”Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information”, it is our opinion that the management have fulfilled their duty to
properly record and document the Company’s accounting information as required by law and
generally accepted bookkeeping practice in Norway.

Oslo, 29th of April 2011
BDO AS

Børre Skisland
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

(This translation from Norwegian has been made for information purposes only.)
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SHAREHOLDERS AND SHARE PRICE DEVELOPMENT

Shareholders and share price development
Shareholder    Number of shares     %-age
Morgan Stanley & Co Inc Nominee  31 812 100 19.32% 
Six Sis AG 25 pct Nominee  29 289 406 17.79% 
Holberg Norden   9 895 635 6.01% 
Citibank N.A. (Jersey Branch) Nominee  9 832 000 5.97% 
Varma Mutual Pensjon   6 975 800 4.24% 
MP Pensjon   4 816 000 2.92% 
Staff-Gruppen   4 577 000 2.78% 
Storebrand Vekst   4 561 970 2.77% 
Holberg Norge   3 820 967 2.32% 
TAJ Holding AS   2 900 015 1.76% 
Økonomi og Regnskapsbistand AS   2 900 000 1.76% 
Three M AS   2 817 034 1.71% 
NHO   2 800 000 1.70% 
Delphi Norden   2 700 000 1.64% 
Fjord Partners Invest AS   2 500 000 1.52% 
Storebrand Global Energy   2 408 000 1.56% 
Dukat AS   2 000 000 1.21% 
KLP Aksje Norge Verdipapirfond   1 931 092 1.17%
Absolutt Forvaltning AS   1 400 015 0.85%
Arvarius AS   1 400 000 0.85%
Total 20 largest shareholders     131 337 034 79,75% 

Share price development Dolphin (NOK) in the period 1 January 2010 - 29 April 2011

As of 29 April 2010 the Company had 
issued 164,683,705 shares with a par 
value of NOK 2.00 each. Further the 
Company has as of this date a total of 
22,229,840 outstanding options and 
warrants of which 8,321,340 were 
vested. For a detailed description of the 
terms and conditions for the respective 
arrangements we refer to note 27 and 
30 in the annual accounts for 2010 .

As of this date Dolphin had a total 
of 795 shareholders of which 62 
shareholders were foreign and 
controlling 55.7% of the shares in the 
Company .

The table at lower right shows the 
development in the Company’s share 
price (closing price on Oslo Stock 
Exchange) in the period from 1 January 
2010 to 29 April 2010. The lowest price 
occurred on 9 April 2010 with a price of 
1.37 NOK per share and the highest on 6 
April 2011 with a price of 3.90 NOK per 
share . The Company’s announcement 
of the establishment of the marine 
seismic business unit on 29 November 
2010 marked a shift in the pricing of the 
Company’s, as the share price rose from 
2.44 to 3.85 NOK per share. 

Dividend and shareholder return policy
The Company’s long-term primary 
objective is to give the shareholders 
a return on their investment that is at 
least equal to alternative investments 
with a comparable risk profile. It is 
the Board’s aim that the shares of the 
Company shall appear as a liquid and 
attractive investment opportunity.

As the Company has a growth strategy 
profits for the next two years are 
intended to be used for reinvestments.

Share price development Dolphin (NOK) in the period 1 January 2010 - 29 April 
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Statement of corporate governance
1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN DOLPHIN GROUP ASA
1.1 Purpose and background
Good corporate governance is characterised by open, 
responsible communication and cooperation among the 
Company’s owners, board, and management, in the context 
of both short-term and long-term value creation perspectives. 
Our shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, financial 
associates, and governmental bodies, as well as society in 
general, must be confident and trust that Dolphin is governed 
in a satisfactory manner. They must also be confident and 
trust that Dolphin’s board is sufficiently independent in the 
execution of its duties. Corporate governance deals with 
questions and principles related to the distribution of roles 
between governing bodies, as well as their respective areas of 
responsibility and authority. Sufficient attention must be given to 
the formulation of these roles and functions, in order to secure 
ample control, but at the same time to encourage innovation 
and entrepreneurship. In other words, everything must be 
accomplished with the goal of creating shareholder value.

The purpose of this Policy is to regulate the division of roles 
between shareholders, the Board and executive management 
and through the efficient use of the Company’s resources 
to ensure the greatest possible value creation over time in 
the best interests of shareholders, employees and other 
stakeholders .

1.2 Adoption
This corporate governance policy (the “Policy”) was adopted 
by the board of directors (the “Board”) of Dolphin Group ASA 
(the “Company”) on 29 April 2011 and the Policy outlines 
the key principles, guidelines and practices for corporate 
governance for the Company.

1.3 The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance
The Policy is based on The Norwegian Code of Practice for 
Corporate Governance as of 21 October 2010. Any deviations 
from this Code of Practice will be explained in this Policy (in 
accordance with the “comply or explain” principle). In addition 
this Corporate Governance policy will be included in the 
English version of the Company’s annual report.  

1.4 Values, ethics and corporate social responsibility 
guidelines
The Company has adopted instructions for its own work 
as well as for the executive management with particular 

emphasis on clear internal allocation of responsibilities and 
duties. Further the Company has also adopted guidelines 
for values, ethics and corporate social responsibility. These 
guidelines may be found at the Company’s websites www.
dolphinics.com and www.dolphingeo.com. 

2 ACTIVITIES/ BUSINESS PURPOSE
Dolphin’s business is defined in its articles of association, 
section 3 as follows:

“The company’s business activities consist of the following, 
either alone, or through other companies:

i) To develop, market and sell electronics, both hard- and 
software, and other products related thereto,

ii) To offer geophysical services within the oil and gas industry 
on a global basis, and

iii) Anything that by nature is related to items i) and ii), 
including investment in companies operating within the 
said business areas.”

The Company’s complete articles of association may be found 
on our websites. 

The Dolphin Group has two business segments, the marine 
geophysical (seismic) segment and the interconnect segment 
(IT).

Dolphin Interconnect is focusing its sales and marketing 
investments on developing the embedded market as its 
growth engine for the future. With its unique competitive 
advantages for this large market, Dolphin is positioned to 
establish a dynamic and defensible business with a revenue 
stream growing significantly over several years.

With Dolphin Geophysical we will build one of the leading 
and most cost-effective marine seismic companies prepared 
for the next decade of oil and gas exploration. Our aim is to 
develop Dolphin Geophysical into the contractor of choice for 
oil and gas exploration companies globally.

Our vision is to be “intelligent, fast & friendly”. By that we 
mean delivering intelligent solutions, fast and efficient 
acquisitions, and providing friendly service to our customers. 
Further the Company will be driven by safety, quality and a 
strong environmental focus.
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3 EQUITY AND DIVIDEND POLICY
3.1 Equity
The Company has a policy to have a solid financial platform 
with financial flexibility and an equity ratio that exceeds 
30%. Currently the equity ratio is well above this minimum 
threshold. The Company aims to be a “capital light” company 
not owning any vessels, but only the seismic equipment where 
appropriate. Instead the company want to charter seismic 
vessels, either on short term contracts or medium term with 
options to prolong the charters.

3.2 Dividend policy
The Company has a growth strategy, and any profit for the 
next two years is intended to be used for reinvestments. 
The Company’s long-term primary objective is to give the 
shareholders a return on their investment that is at least equal 
to alternative investments with a comparable risk profile. It is 
the Board’s aim that the shares of the Company shall appear 
as a liquid and attractive investment opportunity.

3.3 Mandate granted to the Board to increase the Company’s 
share capital
The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance 
goes further than the Public Companies Act by requiring that 
a mandate to increase the capital or acquisition of shares to 
the Board of Directors should be limited to defined purposes, 
and that each mandate should be considered separately by a 
general meeting.

As the Company may need to obtain additional equity, partly 
through private placements and partly through using shares 
as consideration in acquisitions, it is beneficial if the Board 
can do so through a simple board resolution without having 
to summon an extraordinary general meeting. To meet the 
Company’s ambitions for growth, the Company considers it 
beneficial to issue a general power of attorney, not limited 
to defined purposes, to the Board to issue shares which 
constitute up to 40 % of the shares capital.

Thus, the board has been granted an authority to issue 
new shares of up to 64,000,000 shares in an extraordinary 
general meeting on 20 December 2010. The authorisation 
is valid to 30 June 2012. As of today a total of 4,824,000 has 
been utilised of the authorisation in connection with the 
subsequent offering that was carried out in January 2011.

For the coming years the Board will seek to have authorisation to 
issue new shares for possible transactions in expanding the company 
with about 30-40% of the registered shared capital, and will seek 
to have a yearly approval of this at the annual general meeting.

4 EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS AND 
TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSE ASSOCIATES
4.1 Equal treatment of shareholders
All shareholders shall be treated on an equal basis and not 
be exposed to differential treatment that lacks a basis in 
the Company’s and shareholders’ common interests . In the 
circumstances the Board approves a share capital increase 
utilising an authorisation from the shareholders where the 
pre-emptive rights for existing shareholders will be waived, 
it will comply with the requirements in the Norwegian Code 
of Corporate Governance explaining the reason for this in 
connection with the stock exchange announcement.

4.2 The arms length principle – valuation by an independent 
third party
The Company will, as soon as possible, publicly disclose 
any not immaterial transactions between the Company 
and shareholders, members of the Board, members of the 
executive management or close associates of any such parties. 

In the event of such transactions, the Board will arrange for 
a valuation to be obtained from an independent third party. 
This will not apply if the transaction requires the approval of 
the general meeting pursuant to § 3-8 of the Public Limited 
Companies Act. In such an event, the Board shall convene 
the general meeting, which shall determine whether the 
transaction shall be approved, and ensure that a report from an 
independent auditor is enclosed, as well as the notice of the general 
meeting and is notified to the Register of Business Enterprises. 

In such circumstances where the company will have any 
material transactions with group companies where there are 
minority shareholders the Board will ensure that independent 
valuations are obtain as a part of the transaction.  

4.3 Duty to notify the Board
The members of the Board and the executive management 
shall notify the Board if they have any material direct or indirect 
interest in any transaction entered into by the Company.

4.4 Trading in own shares
The Company has no authorisation to trade own shares, but 
the Board will seek such authorisation at the ordinary general 
meeting in 2011. The proposal is that such an authorisation 
will be given for one year. During the initial build up/expansion 
phase of the Company the Board will be careful in utilising such 
an authorisation. However, it is viewed important to give the 
Company greater financial flexibility where acquisition/disposal 
of treasury shares may be utlised in circumstances where the 
Board view this as beneficial for the shareholders of the Company.
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5 FREELY NEGOTIABLE SHARES
All shares in the Company are and shall be freely negotiable.

6 THE GENERAL MEETING 
6.1 Notice calling the annual general meeting
The Board should take steps to ensure that as many shareholders 
as possible may exercise their rights by participating in general 
meetings of the Company, and that general meetings are an 
effective forum for the views of shareholders and the Board.

In particular the Board will strive to ensure the following:
· Notice for the meeting and supporting information for the 

resolutions considered will be sent to the shareholders with 
known addresses and published on the Company’s websites 
at least 21 days prior to the date of the general meeting. 
Normally the recommendations from the Nomination 
Committee will be published at the same time

· The proposed resolutions and supporting information 
distributed are sufficiently detailed and comprehensive 
to allow shareholders to form a view on all matters to be 
considered at the meeting

· Deadline for shareholders to give notice of their intention to attend 
the meeting is as close to the date of the meeting as possible

· Making appropriate arrangements for the general meeting 
to vote separately on each candidate nominated for election 
to the company’s corporate bodies

· Ensure that the members of the Board and the Nomination 
Committee and the auditor are present at the general meeting

· Making arrangements to ensure an independent chairman 
for the general meeting in circumstances where this is 
considered appropriate

6.2 Authority – The exercise of shareholder’s rights
The shareholders exercise the highest authority in the 
Company through the general meeting. A transferee of shares 
is entitled to participate in a general meeting if the transfer 
of shares is registered in the register of shareholders or if 
the transfer has been reported and documented in another 
appropriate manner .

6.3 Participation by proxy
Shareholders who cannot attend the meeting in person should 
be given the opportunity to vote. The Company will:
· provide information on the procedure for representation at 

the meeting through a proxy

· nominate a person who will be available to vote on behalf of 
shareholders as their proxy

· to the extent possible prepare a form for the appointment 
of a proxy, which allows separate voting instructions to be 
given for each matter to be considered by the meeting and 
for each of the candidates nominated for election

In addition, it should, whenever possible, be made clear either 
by instructions on the form or by reference to established 
guidelines how the proxy should vote in the absence of 
specific voting instructions on one or more matters and 
in the event of changes to proposed resolutions and new 
resolutions. 

The proxy shall explain the procedure for representation at 
the meeting through a proxy. In the addition, the proxy shall 
be made available at the Company’s website and be enclosed 
the notice of the general meeting.

6.4 Attendance by members of the Board and the 
Nomination Committee and the auditor, together with CEO 
or the CFO
The Board shall wherever possible ensure that that the 
following persons are present at the general meeting: 
Chairman of the Board and, if deemed appropriate, other 
members of the Board and members of the Nomination 
Committee and the auditor, together with the CEO or the CFO.

6.5 Independent person to chair the meeting
The Board will make arrangements to ensure the inclusion 
of an independent chairman for the general meeting and 
consider how the objective of an independent chairman can 
best be achieved, given the Company’s organisation and 
shareholder structure and the proposed resolutions to be 
passed at the meeting.

6.6 Publication of minutes
Minutes from the general meeting will immediately be made 
available on the Company’s website and in accordance with 
applicable rules of Oslo Børs. Further, the Company will make 
sure that the minutes of general meetings are made available 
for inspection by shareholders at the company’s office.

6.7 Election of members of the Board
The general meeting shall procure that the composition 
of the Board satisfies the requirements in Section 8 of The 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance 
with respect to independence from management, material 
business contacts and main shareholders .
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7 THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The articles of association stipulate that the general meeting 
shall elect a Nomination Committee consisting of three 
members. The election is for a two year period and the 
chairman of the Nomination Committee will be elected in 
the general meeting. The general meeting shall determine 
the committee’s remuneration. According to the Company’s 
articles of association the majority of the member in the 
Nomination Committee must be independent from the 
management and board of directors of the Company .

The general meeting will stipulate guidelines for the duties of 
the nomination committee.

The Nomination Committee shall propose candidates for 
election to the Board and for the Nomination Committee 
and propose the fees to be paid to Board members and the 
members of the Nomination Committee.

The general meeting shall ensure that the composition of 
the committee satisfies the requirements in Section 7 of The 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance.

8 BOARD OF DIRECTORS; COMPOSITION AND 
INDEPENDENCE
8.1 Board composition and board election
According to the articles of association of the Company the 
Board shall consist of between three to seven members. 
Currently the Board constitutes five shareholder-elected 
members and one member elected by the member of the 
employees. According to the articles of association both the 
Chairman of the Board and the Deputy Chairman shall be 
elected by the shareholders in a general meeting. All of the 
Board members elected by the shareholders are elected for 
a term of two years. A complete presentation of the current 
Board members is given on the Company’s websites.

8.2 Independence of the Board
The Board shall operate as a collegiate body when carrying 
out its duties. In order to support the stock market’s 
confidence in the independence of the Board, at least two 
of its members should be independent of the Company’s 
main shareholders. The majority of the members elected 
to the Board by shareholders should be independent of the 
Company’s executive personnel/management and its main 
business connections. 

A member of the Board shall seek to meet the requirements 
for independence set forth in Section 8 of The Norwegian 
Code of Practice for Corporate Governance.

Currently all of the shareholder-elected Board Members are 
considered independent from the major shareholders and 
independent from senior management .

9 THE WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
9.1 Role of the Board
The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the management 
of the Company and for supervising its day-to-day 
management and activities in general. This includes, inter alia:
· Employing, dismissing and supervising the CEO, determining 

the remuneration for the CEO and determining the 
remuneration for executive personnel.

· Responsibility for ensuring that the activities are soundly 
organised

· Provide instructions for the Board and executive 
management and ensure that the executive management 
has the sufficient power to undertake tasks decided by the 
Board and/or the general meeting

· Approving plans and budgets for the activities of the Company

· Keeping informed of the Company’s financial position and 
ensuring that its activities, accounts and asset management 
are subject to adequate control

· Leading the Company’s strategic planning and reviewing the 
strategy on a regular basis, and making decisions that fall 
outside the day-to-day operation of the Company

· Making decisions that form the basis for the executive 
management to prepare for and implement investments and 
structural measures

· Ensure that the Company has sufficient internal control 
and appropriate systems for risk evaluation taking into 
account the scope of the Company’s business activities – the 
internal control includes the value base of the Company and 
guidelines for ethics and corporate responsibility

The Board will follow general guidelines and principles 
decided by the general meeting. The Board has prepared a 
policy for the responsibilities for the Board of Directors and 
for the responsibilities of the CEO, clearly outlining the division 
of responsibility between the Board and the CEO.

9.2 Annual meeting plan and evaluation
The Board has set up an annual plan for its work, with 
particular emphasis on objectives, strategy, key risk areas 
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and internal control and implementation, and evaluates 
its performance and expertise annually. The result from 
the annual evaluation is made available to the Nomination 
Committee. The Board will, at its sole discretion, consider the 
most appropriate way to conduct the evaluation.

9.3 Board committees
The Board has established two board committees; one audit 
committee, cf. the Norwegian Public Liabilities Companies 
Act Section 6-41, and one compensation committee. A Board 
committee may use other resources within the Company 
or seek external advice outside the Company if considered 
appropriate . 

9.3.1 Audit committee
Currently the Board has decided that the entire Board will 
fulfil the role as audit committee. This arrangement will 
continue for one year followed by an evaluation of the 
arrangement . The background for this decision is that the set 
up of the marine geophysical business segment is new and it 
is considered important that all Board Members participate in 
this process in the initial expansion phase of the new business 
segment .

The audit committee shall: 
· Prepare the basis for the Board’s obligation to supervise and 

follow up on the accounting report process.  

· Supervise the systems for internal control and risk 
evaluation.

 
· Have consecutive contact with the auditor elected by the 

Company regarding the audit of the annual accounts .
 
· Evaluate and supervise the auditor’s independence.

The auditor will at least once a year, together with the audit 
committee, evaluate the Company’s internal control, including 
identifying weaknesses and suggest solutions for improvement. 

9.3.2 Remuneration Committee
The Board has appointed a remuneration committee consisting 
of the chairman of the Board and one additional board 
member. The duties of the remuneration committee include:
· Preparing guidelines for remuneration of executive 

personnel

· Preparing a draft statement on the remuneration of the 
leading employees as set out in § 6-16a of the Public Limited 
Companies Act

· Preparing for the Board’s discussion of specific remuneration 
matters

· Preparing matters relating to other material employment 
issues in respect of the executive management

9.4 The relationship between the Board and any Board 
committees
The members of the Board are jointly responsible for its 
decisions. Thus, the role of the board committees is to 
prepare matters for final decision by the Board as a whole. 
Material information that comes to the attention of board 
committees will be communicated to the other members of 
the full Board .

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
10.1 The duties of the Board
The Board will ensure that the Company has sound internal 
control and systems for risk management that ensure that 
the Company’s goals and strategies are fulfilled and complied 
with. The internal control system also encompasses the 
Company’s corporate values and ethical guidelines. 

Internal controls shall ensure that the business processes 
are at all times efficient and carry an acceptable level of 
risk, that physical and intangible assets are safeguarded and 
utilised, that financial information is correct and timely, and 
that laws, regulations and guidelines are followed, including 
the Company’s corporate values, its ethical guidelines and its 
guidelines for corporate social responsibility . Internal controls 
are the responsibility of management, but the individual 
employees also share this responsibility .

10.2 Annual review of the exposure to risk and internal 
control arrangements
The Board will carry out an annual review of the Company’s 
most important areas of exposure to risk and its internal 
control arrangements. This review will pay attention to:
· Changes relative to previous years’ reports in respect of the 

nature and extent of material risks and the Company’s ability 
to cope with changes in its business and external changes

· The extent and quality of management’s routine monitoring 
of risks and the internal control system

· The extent and frequency of management’s reporting to 
the Board on the results of such monitoring, and whether 
this reporting makes it possible for the Board to carry out 
an overall evaluation of the internal control situation in the 
Company and how risks are being managed
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· Instances of material shortcomings or weaknesses in internal 
control that come to light during the course of the year which 
have had, could have had or may have had a significant effect 
on the Company’s financial results or financial standing

· How well the Company’s external reporting process functions

In light of the change in the Company’s strategic direction the risk 
management and internal control framework for the Company 
is under revision to facilitate the requirements of the newly 
established marine geophysical business segment . The progress 
for developing a renewed framework is continuously monitored 
and a complete review will have to be performed in late 2011. 

11 REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The remuneration to the members of the Board shall be 
determined by the general meeting based on a proposal 
from the Nomination Committee. The remuneration for 
2010 is described in note 26 to the annual accounts . The 
remuneration shall reflect the Board’s responsibility, 
expertise, time commitment and the complexity of the 
Company’s activities. The remuneration will not be linked to 
the Company’s performance and the Company will not grant 
share options to members of the Board. However, in 2010 the 
Deputy Chairman was granted 150,000 shares and this was 
approved in the ordinary general meeting for 2010 as part 
of the board compensation for him. As a part of complying 
with the Norwegian Code for Corporate Governance the 
options were terminated with a cash settlement on the 
underlying value of the shares compared to the option strike 
price and as a part of this agreement the Deputy Chairman 
purchased 125,000 shares in the Company . The Company has 
implemented a policy where the employee representative on 
the Board will not receive any specific remuneration for his/
her duty as a board member .

The remuneration paid to the Chairman of the Board and 
Deputy Chairman of the Board will be determined separately 
from that of the other members . 

In the circumstances that a Member of the Board and/or 
companies with whom they are associated should undertake 
additional work for the Company, due consideration will be 
taken before such an engagement is undertaken. Further, 
such an engagement will be approved by the Board and 
compensation for such additional work will be specified in the 
notes to the annual accounts if applicable . 

12 REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
The Board has prepared guidelines for the remuneration of 

the executive management that is outlined in note 26 to the 
annual accounts.  The overall principle is that the Company 
should have a level for remuneration of executive personnel/
management that is competitive within the international 
seismic/geophysical industry and makes the Company an 
attractive employer. 

Part of the remuneration will take form as a share option 
programme that is linked to the long term value creation for 
shareholders of the Company. Unless special reasons exist, only 
one third of the allotted options may be exercised the initial 
year after the allotment, the next third may be exercised in the 
second year after the allotment, whereas the last third may be 
exercised in the third year after the allotment. The share option 
programme will incentivise performance and provide a long 
term approach that is beneficial to the Company and will also 
be based on quantifiable factors, such as pre-qualification for 
tenders and utilisation for the Company’s vessels. There is no 
cap on the option programme, however, the number of options 
granted to each individual in the executive management is 
carefully considered therefore the development in the share 
price must be very favourable should the gain from the 
options exceed the base salary in the option period.

The Company will establish a bonus programme for all personnel 
in the Company during 2011 . The detail of the programme 
is not clarified but will be prepared by the management in 
connection with the Compensation Committee before it 
will be presented to the Board. The bonus arrangement will 
be capped and will be based on a combination of financial 
performance and other measures that are important to 
ensure the long term success of the Company .

13 INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS
13.1 Reporting to the market
The Company’s reporting of financial and other information 
shall be based on openness and transparency, and in accordance 
with requirements relating to equal treatment of all participants 
in the securities market. The Company’s reporting shall 
comply with applicable laws and regulations and in all material 
respects be full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable.

The Company has established procedures for whom will make 
announcements on behalf of the Company in circumstances 
where special media interest is directed to the Company.

13.2 Information to shareholders
Each year the Company will announce the dates of important 
events such as the annual general meeting and the date for 
publication of interim reports. Further presentations in open 
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market seminars or any shareholder market arrangements 
will be made public ahead of the Company personnel giving 
the presentation. Information to the Company’s shareholders 
is made available on the Company’s website at the same 
time as it is sent to the shareholders. The Company’s 
investor relations function ensures that contact with the 
Company’s shareholders is maintained outside the annual 
general meeting and due care is continuously taken in 
these circumstances, with respect to equal treatment of all 
participants in the securities market.

14 TAKE-OVERS
The Company’s articles of association do not contain any anti-
takeover mechanisms. 

In a possible take-over situation, the Board and management 
have an independent responsibility to help ensure that 
shareholders are treated equally, and that the Company’s 
business activities are not disrupted unnecessarily. 

The Board realises that it has a particular responsibility to 
ensure that shareholders are given sufficient information and 
time to form their own view of the offer. If an offer for the 
shares in the Company is put forward, the Board will obtain 
an independent valuation (fairness opinion) of the Company. 
This report will be published together with a recommendation 
from the Board whether shareholders should accept or 
reject the offer. If the Board finds itself unable to give a 
recommendation to shareholders on whether or not to accept 
the offer, it should explain the background for not making 
such a recommendation. If a voluntary or mandatory offer 
pursuant to Chapter 6 in the Securities Trading Act is made, 
the Board’s statement shall satisfy the requirements in § 6-16. 
The Board’s statement on a bid shall make it clear whether the 
views expressed are unanimous, and if this is not the case, it 
shall explain the basis on which specific members of the Board 
have excluded themselves from the Board’s statement.

The Board will not seek to hinder or obstruct take-over 
bids for the Company’s activities or shares but rather work 
to improve the offer price and leave the decision to the 
shareholders after the Board has given its view on the offer.
In the event of a take-over bid for the Company’s shares, 
the Company’s Board will not exercise mandates or pass any 
resolutions with the intention of obstructing the take-over bid 
unless this is approved by the general meeting following the 
announcement of the bid .

Any material transaction that is in effect a disposal of the 
Company’s activities will be decided by a general meeting.

15 AUDITOR
15.1 Evaluation on the audit arrangement
BDO AS has been appointed the auditors for the Company 
since 2006 and the Board will from time to time evaluate the 
audit arrangement for the Company . 

15.2 Participation in meetings of the Board
The auditor shall participate in meetings of the Board 
that deal with the annual accounts. At these meetings the 
auditor shall review any material changes in the Company’s 
accounting principles, comment on any material estimated 
accounting figures and report all material matters on which 
there has been disagreement between the auditor and the 
executive management of the Company. 

The Board shall hold a meeting with the auditor at least 
once a year at which neither the CEO nor any other member 
of the executive management is present. The Auditor 
shall be present at the annual general meeting and in any 
extraordinary general meeting if deemed appropriate.

15.3 Reports from the auditor
The auditor shall submit the main features of the plan for the 
audit of the Company to the Board annually .

The auditor should, at least once a year, present to the audit 
committee Board a review of the Company’s internal control 
procedures, including identified weaknesses and proposals for 
improvement.

The Board shall obtain an annual written confirmation 
from the auditor that the auditor continues to satisfy the 
requirements for independence. In addition, the auditor 
should provide the Board with a summary of all services in 
addition to audit work that have been undertaken for the 
Company . 

15.4 Engagement of the auditor for services than the audit
The Company’s executive management may not without the 
prior consent of the Board engage the auditor to perform 
other services than the audit, provided that estimated costs 
for such services exceed NOK 300,000.

15.5 Remuneration of the auditor
The remuneration paid to the auditor will be approved by the 
general meeting. The Board must report the remuneration 
paid to the auditor at the annual general meeting, including 
details of the fee paid for audit work and any fees paid for 
other specific assignments.
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DOLPHIN GROUP

Dolphin Group
Dolphin Group ASA
Helsfyr Atrium
Innspurten 15
0663 Oslo
Norway
Tel +47 23 16 70 00
Fax +47 23 16 71 80
www.dolphingroup.no

Dolphin Geophysical AS 
Helsfyr Atrium 
Innspurten 15
0663 Oslo 
Norway 
Tel +47 23 16 70 00
Fax +47 23 16 71 80
www.dolphingeo.com

Dolphin Geophysical AS
Solheimsgaten 13
5058 Bergen
Norway
Tel +47 55 38 75 00
Fax +47 55 38 75 01  
www.dolphingeo.com

Dolphin Geophysical Inc
1602 Klimer Way
Houston
Texas 77077
USA
Tel +(1)71 32 69 23 96
Fax +(1)28 16 79 00 66
www.dolphingeo.com
 
Dolphin Geophysical Ltd
Unit 28, Calverley House
55 Calverley Road
Tunbridge Wells
Kent TN1 2TU
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0)20 81 33 83 43
Fax +44 (0)18 92 57 99 65
www.dolphingeo.com

Dolphin Geophysical PTE Ltd
9 Battery Road
12 F Straits Trading Building
Singapore 049910
Tel +65 65 97 09 08
Fax +65 92 71 47 70
www.dolphingeo.com

Dolphin Interconnect Solutions AS 
Helsfyr Atrium
Innspurten 15
0663 Oslo
Norway
Tel +47 23 16 70 00
Fax +47 23 16 71 80
www.dolphinics.com 

Dolphin Interconnect Solutions 
North America Inc
PO Box 148
Woodsville
NH 03785
USA
Tel +(1)60 37 47 41 00         
Fax +(1)60 37 47 41 01
www.dolphinics.com
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http://www.dolphingeo.com
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http://www.dolphinics.com
http://www.dolphinics.com
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